
 

 

 
 
 
 

Sheffield Health and 
Wellbeing Board 
 

Sheffield City Council ● Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
 
 
Thursday 27 June 2013 at 2.00 pm 
 
Town Hall, Sheffield, S1 2HH 

 
The Press and Public are Welcome to Attend 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Membership 
  

Councillor Julie Dore  
Councillor Jackie Drayton  
Councillor Harry Harpham  
Councillor Mary Lea  
Amir Afzal Clinical Commissioning Group 
Dr Margaret Ainger Clinical Commissioning Group 
Ian Atkinson Clinical Commissioning Group 
Dr Ted Turner Clinical Commissioning Group 
Dr Tim Moorhead Clinical Commissioning Group 
Margaret Kitching South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw Cluster 
Jayne Ludlam Executive Director, Children, Young People & 

Families 
John Mothersole Chief Executive 
Richard Webb Executive Director, Communities 
Jeremy Wight Director of Public Health 
Pam Enderby Healthwatch Sheffield 
 

  

 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 

SHEFFIELD’S HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD 
 

Sheffield City Council ● Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group 

 
Sheffield’s Health and Wellbeing Board started to meet in shadow form in January 
2012 and became a statutory group in April 2013. The Health and Social Care Act 
2012 states that every local authority needs a Health and Wellbeing Board. It is a 
group of local GPs, local councillors, a representative of Sheffield citizens, and 
senior managers in the NHS and the local authority, all of whom seek to make local 
government and local health services better for local people. Its terms of reference 
sets out how it will operate. 
 
Sheffield's Health and Wellbeing Board has a formal public meeting every three 
months as well as a range of public events held at least once a quarter. 
 
Sheffield's Health and Wellbeing Board has a website which tells you more about 
what we do. www.sheffield.gov.uk/healthwellbeingboard 
 
 

PUBLIC ACCESS TO THE MEETING 

 
A copy of the agenda and reports is available on the Council’s website at 
www.sheffield.gov.uk.  You can also see the reports to be discussed at the meeting if 
you call at the First Point Reception, Town Hall, Pinstone Street entrance.  The 
Reception is open between 9.00 am and 5.00 pm, Monday to Thursday and between 
9.00 am and 4.45 pm. on Friday, or you can ring on telephone no. 2734552.  You 
may not be allowed to see some reports because they contain confidential 
information.  These items are usually marked * on the agenda.  
 
Meetings are normally open to the public but sometimes the Board may have to 
discuss an item in private.  If this happens, you will be asked to leave.  Any private 
items are normally left until last.  If you would like to attend the meeting please report 
to the First Point Reception desk where you will be directed to the meeting room. 
 
If you require any further information please contact Jason Dietsch on 0114 273 
4117 or email jason.dietsch@sheffield.gov.uk    
 
 

FACILITIES 

 
There are public toilets available, with wheelchair access, on the ground floor of the 
Town Hall. Induction loop facilities are available in meeting rooms. 
 



 

 

 

SHEFFIELD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD AGENDA 
 

Sheffield City Council ● Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

27 JUNE 2013 
 

Order of Business 

 
1. Apologies for Absence 

 
2. Declarations of Interest 
 Members to declare any interests they have in the business to be 

considered at the meeting. 
 

3. Public Questions 
 To receive any questions from members of the public 

 
 

4. Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Sheffield 2013 
 

5. Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board Response to the Fairness 
Commission 
 

6. Quality in the New Health System - a review of recommendations 
from recent national reviews and the implications for Sheffield 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

7. Minutes of the Previous Meeting 
 To approve the minutes of the meeting of the Sheffield Health and 

Wellbeing Board held on 25 April 2013. 
 

 NOTE: The next meeting of Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board will 
be held on Thursday 26 September 2013 at 2.00 pm 
 
 

 



This page is intentionally left blank



 1

ADVICE TO MEMBERS ON DECLARING INTERESTS AT MEETINGS 

 
New standards arrangements were introduced by the Localism Act 2011.  The new 
regime made changes to the way that members’ interests are registered and 
declared.   
 
If you are present at a meeting of the Council, of its executive or any committee of 
the executive, or of any committee, sub-committee, joint committee, or joint sub-
committee of the authority, and you have a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest (DPI) 
relating to any business that will be considered at the meeting, you must not:  
 
• participate in any discussion of the business at the meeting, or if you become 

aware of your Disclosable Pecuniary Interest during the meeting, participate 
further in any discussion of the business, or  

• participate in any vote or further vote taken on the matter at the meeting.  

These prohibitions apply to any form of participation, including speaking as a 
member of the public. 

You must: 
 
• leave the room (in accordance with the Members’ Code of Conduct) 
• make a verbal declaration of the existence and nature of any DPI at any 

meeting at which you are present at which an item of business which affects or 
relates to the subject matter of that interest is under consideration, at or before 
the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest becomes 
apparent. 

• declare it to the meeting and notify the Council’s Monitoring Officer within 28 
days, if the DPI is not already registered. 

 

If you have any of the following pecuniary interests, they are your disclosable 
pecuniary interests under the new national rules. You have a pecuniary interest if 
you, or your spouse or civil partner, have a pecuniary interest.  
 

•  Any employment, office, trade, profession or vocation carried on for profit or 
gain, which you, or your spouse or civil partner, undertakes. 

  

•  Any payment or provision of any other financial benefit (other than from your 
council or authority) made or provided within the relevant period* in respect of 
any expenses incurred by you in carrying out duties as a member, or towards 
your election expenses. This includes any payment or financial benefit from a 
trade union within the meaning of the Trade Union and Labour Relations 
(Consolidation) Act 1992.  
 
*The relevant period is the 12 months ending on the day when you tell the 
Monitoring Officer about your disclosable pecuniary interests.  

  

Agenda Item 2

Page 1



 2

•  Any contract which is made between you, or your spouse or your civil partner 
(or a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial 
interest) and your council or authority -  
- under which goods or services are to be provided or works are to be 

executed; and  
- which has not been fully discharged. 

  

•  Any beneficial interest in land which you, or your spouse or your civil partner, 
have and which is within the area of your council or authority.  

  

•  Any licence (alone or jointly with others) which you, or your spouse or your 
civil partner, holds to occupy land in the area of your council or authority for a 
month or longer.  

  

•  Any tenancy where (to your knowledge) - 
 - the landlord is your council or authority; and  

- the tenant is a body in which you, or your spouse or your civil partner,   
has a beneficial interest. 
 

•  Any beneficial interest which you, or your spouse or your civil partner has in 
securities of a body where -  
 

 (a)  that body (to your knowledge) has a place of business or land in the area 
of your council or authority; and  

 
 (b) either  

- the total nominal value of the securities exceeds £25,000 or one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that body; or  

- if the share capital of that body is of more than one class, the total 
nominal value of the shares of any one class in which you, or your 
spouse or your civil partner, has a beneficial interest exceeds one 
hundredth of the total issued share capital of that class.  

 
 
Under the Council’s Code of Conduct, members must act in accordance with the 
Seven Principles of Public Life (selflessness; integrity; objectivity; accountability; 
openness; honesty; and leadership), including the principle of honesty, which says 
that ‘holders of public office have a duty to declare any private interests relating to 
their public duties and to take steps to resolve any conflicts arising in a way that 
protects the public interest’. 

If you attend a meeting at which any item of business is to be considered and you 
are aware that you have a personal interest in the matter which does not amount to 
a DPI, you must make verbal declaration of the existence and nature of that interest 
at or before the consideration of the item of business or as soon as the interest 
becomes apparent. You should leave the room if your continued presence is 
incompatible with the 7 Principles of Public Life.  

Page 2



 3

You have a personal interest where – 

• a decision in relation to that business might reasonably be regarded as affecting 
the well-being or financial standing (including interests in land and easements 
over land) of you or a member of your family or a person or an organisation with 
whom you have a close association to a greater extent than it would affect the 
majority of the Council Tax payers, ratepayers or inhabitants of the ward or 
electoral area for which you have been elected or otherwise of the Authority’s 
administrative area, or 

 
• it relates to or is likely to affect any of the interests that are defined as DPIs but 

are in respect of a member of your family (other than a partner) or a person with 
whom you have a close association. 

 
Guidance on declarations of interest, incorporating regulations published by the 
Government in relation to Disclosable Pecuniary Interests, has been circulated to 
you previously, and has been published on the Council’s website as a downloadable 
document at -http://councillors.sheffield.gov.uk/councillors/register-of-councillors-
interests 
 
You should identify any potential interest you may have relating to business to be 
considered at the meeting. This will help you and anyone that you ask for advice to 
fully consider all the circumstances before deciding what action you should take. 
 
In certain circumstances the Council may grant a dispensation to permit a Member 
to take part in the business of the Authority even if the member has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest relating to that business.  

To obtain a dispensation, you must write to the Monitoring Officer at least 48 hours 
before the meeting in question, explaining why a dispensation is sought and 
desirable, and specifying the period of time for which it is sought.  The Monitoring 
Officer may consult with the Independent Person or the Council’s Standards 
Committee in relation to a request for dispensation. 

Further advice can be obtained from Lynne Bird, Director of Legal Services on 0114 
2734018 or email lynne.bird@sheffield.gov.uk  
 

Page 3



Page 4

This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report of:   Jeremy Wight, Director of Public Health 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date:    27 June 2013 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Sheffield (2013) 
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report: James Henderson, Director of Policy, Performance and 

Communications 
 0114 203 0239  
________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
This is the final version of the JSNA for Sheffield. It assesses the current and future health 
and wellbeing needs of the Sheffield population. Its key aim is to provide an evidence base 
for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 
_______________________________________________________________________ 
 
Questions for the Health and Wellbeing Board: 
The Board is asked to identify any final corrections or amendments prior to publication of 
the document on the SCC website at www.sheffield.gov.uk/jsna in July 2013. 
 
Recommendations: 
To agree the final version of the JSNA, subject to any final corrections or amendments and 
to request an update on the JSNA work programme to a future meeting of the Board. 
 
Reasons for Recommendations: 
(Reports should include a statement of the reasons for the decisions proposed) 
Production, publication and maintenance of a JSNA complies with requirements of the 
Health and Social Care Act (2012). 
 
_____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers: The JSNA for Sheffield 2013 (V16.0) 

 

SHEFFIELD HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

BOARD PAPER 

Agenda Item 4

Page 5



The Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Sheffield (2013) 
 
1.0 SUMMARY 

 
1.1 This is the first Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) for Sheffield developed 

under the Health and Social Care Act (2012). It assesses the current and future health 
and wellbeing needs of the Sheffield population. Its key aim is to provide an evidence 
base for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for Sheffield. 
 

 
2.0 WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR SHEFFIELD PEOPLE? 

 
2.1 The JSNA is the means by which the health and wellbeing needs of the local 

population are assessed. It has been developed to identify the key priorities for 
improving health and wellbeing in the City and in so doing, to inform the development 
of Sheffield’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy and thus shape commissioning plans for 
health and wellbeing services. 
 

 
3.0 ABOUT THE SHEFFIELD JSNA 

 
3.1 Our starting point for the JSNA was to bring together as wide an evidence base as 

possible. This has involved analysing traditional sources of evidence, such as 
population statistics, performance data and academic research, with what we term 
‘voice’ evidence. This has involved working with a wide range of partners and 
stakeholders across the public, private and voluntary sectors, including four JSNA 
events held January to March 2013. 

3.2 The information obtained from this process has been synthesised to provide 
intelligence about health and wellbeing needs in Sheffield. Within the document, this 
intelligence has been organised around the Health and Wellbeing Strategy outcomes. 
Specifically it is structured around the following four chapters: 
 
� Chapter 1 analyses the wider determinants of health and wellbeing including 

factors such as employment, education, housing, crime and environment. 
� Chapter 2 focuses on mortality and morbidity and examines life expectancy, 

causes of premature death, infant mortality, long term limiting illness and 
disability, healthy lifestyles and mental health and wellbeing. 

� Chapter 3 looks at geographical health inequalities in terms of life expectancy, 
mortality and morbidity, deprivation and services. 

� Chapter 4 covers health, housing, children’s, social care and voluntary sector 
services. It considers service demand, experience and how services will need to 
change in the future. 

 
3.3 In each chapter, the key findings of our assessment are presented together with areas 

where we need to further develop our knowledge of the issue. In addition, three top 
priorities per chapter are identified. These have been selected on the strength of the 
evidence of need and the key themes to emerge from the JSNA events held earlier in 
the year. All twelve priorities are summarised in the document as the executive 
summary. 

Page 6



3.4 The JSNA is not a static document and we will therefore be reviewing and updating the 
evidence on an on-going basis. To this end, we will develop a forward work plan, to 
cover the next 12-18 months. This will include the additional assessment work required 
to help fill the current gaps in our knowledge. 
 
 

4.0 QUESTIONS FOR THE BOARD 
 

4.1 The document will be designed as a pdf so that it is suitable for publication. It will be 
published in July 2013 on the Council’s website at www.sheffield.gov.uk/jsna. As such, 
the Board is asked to identify any final corrections or amendments during the meeting.  
 

 
5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
5.1 To agree the final version of the JSNA for Sheffield (2013) subject to any final 

corrections or amendments. 
5.2 To request an update on the JSNA forward work plan to a future meeting of the Board. 

 
 
6.0 REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
6.1 Production, publication and maintenance of a JSNA complies with the requirements of 

the Health and Social Care Act (2012). 
  

 
 

 
James Henderson 
Director of Policy, Performance and Communications 
Sheffield City Council 
 
27th June 2013 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 

 

  

 

Sheffield’s  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

2013 

 

Version 16.0  

27
th

 June 2013 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Page 9



2 
 

 

Sheffield’s  

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

2013 
 

 

Contents 

 

Executive Summary................................................................................................3 

The 12 key priorities identified by this JSNA. 

 

Introducing our JSNA ............................................................................................ 5 

The purpose, aims, principles and approach of this JSNA. 
 

1.  The wider determinants of health and wellbeing ........................................... 8 

Employment, poverty, housing, education, the environment, transport, crime and 

social networks. 

 

2. Health and wellbeing  ................................................................................... 21 

Mortality and morbidity: life expectancy, the cause of premature death, long term 

limiting illness and disability, infant mortality, healthy lifestyles and mental health 

and wellbeing. 

 

3. Health inequalities .......................................................................................... 41 

Geographical health inequalities: life expectancy, morbidity, children’s health and 

access to services.  

 

4. Health, housing, children’s and social services ............................................. …50 

Services: service demand, GPs, hospitals, adult social care, children’s, housing, 

Voluntary, Community and Faith sector (VCF) and changing services. 

 

5. Next Steps……………………………………………………………………………………………….......67 

 

 
 

Page 10



3 
 

Executive summary 
 

Based on the range of evidence gathered and the key themes to emerge from 

the four JSNA events held in January - March 2013, the following twelve local 

priorities have been identified by our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment: 

 
1. Limit the negative impact of welfare reform: welfare reform will have a huge impact 

on the City and a negative impact on health and wellbeing, both for those affected by 

the reforms and those affected more broadly by health inequalities. We must minimise 

the negative impact where possible and in particular, the potential ‘double negative 

impact’ for families with children aged under five, families with more than two children 

and lone parent families. 

 
2. Focus on housing: Conditions in the private rented sector and fuel poverty are both 

real concerns in Sheffield and interventions should prioritise these two issues and 

those most at risk. 

 
3. Improve employment opportunities: Fewer people work in Sheffield than the national 

average and we need to improve volunteering, training and employment 

opportunities, particularly for young people. 

  
4. Better understand mental wellbeing: Sheffield experiences poorer levels of mental 

wellbeing than the national average. We need a more comprehensive understanding 

of the specific factors that contribute to wellbeing if we are to improve locally. 

 

5. Focus on leading causes of mortality and morbidity: Long terms conditions (such as 

coronary heart disease and cancer) are among the leading causes of premature death 

in Sheffield and dementia a significant factor in increasing morbidity. This will have 

significant implications for health and social care services including acute hospital 

services, residential care and end of life care. These must be a priority for health and 

social care commissioners for the foreseeable future. 

 

6. Smoking remains the largest, reversible cause of ill health and early death in Sheffield. 

Evidence places increasing importance on implementation of a comprehensive tobacco 

control programme as the key means by which to reduce prevalence of smoking in the 

future. 

 

7. Identify geographical health spend: We need to establish how health expenditure is 

distributed geographically within the City and map this against geographical health 

outcomes. Spend should reflect our aspiration to reduce health inequalities.  

 

8. Develop a better understanding of health inequality by ‘group’: Whilst we have good 

data on inequality by geography, we do not have it by group. Groups such as BME 

communities, children with learning difficulties, homeless people, victims of domestic 

and sexual abuse and carers are all reported nationally to have below average health, 

Page 11



4 
 

but local data are lacking. 

 

9. Map assets:  If we are to reduce health inequalities in the City, it is not enough to 

know about need alone – we also need to understand what assets we have so that we 

can build on them.  

 

10. Reduce dependence on high end health and social care services: The growth and 

changes in our population and balance of our investment profile means that the 

current service model is unsustainable. We must therefore find new ways of 

responding to need which places a premium on prevention, early intervention, 

integrated working and care in the community. Although there is a move to do this, 

there is still a long way to go. 

 

11. Acknowledge the impact of spending cuts: cuts that are impacting on the NHS, local 

government and the voluntary sector cannot be overlooked and are beginning to have 

a negative impact on service provision. It is important to question how realistic the 

outcomes of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy are in light of these funding 

changes.  

 

12. Measure service access and experience: more emphasis must be placed on collecting 

and analysing service access and experience data. Without this, it is impossible to 

measure the extent to which “people get the help and support they need and is right 

for them”. 

 

 

 

  

Page 12



5 
 

Introducing our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

Purpose 
Our Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (or JSNA for short) is the means by which we assess the 

current and future health, care and wellbeing needs of the Sheffield population. As the name 

suggests, it is joint because it involves working with a range of partners; it is strategic as it will 

influence the Health and Wellbeing Strategy and commissioning plans; and it is a needs 

assessment because it analyses and interprets health and wellbeing need in the City. 

  

The Health and Wellbeing Strategy has been developed to identify the key priorities to 

improve health and wellbeing in Sheffield.  As it is important that the strategy’s priorities are 

based on a robust analysis of need, the Health and Wellbeing Board has commissioned this 

JSNA to inform and, if needed, challenge its 

overall approach to improving the City’s 

wellbeing.   

 

The Health and Wellbeing Board will use the JSNA 

to agree priorities in order to develop the next 

iteration of the City’s Health and Wellbeing 

Strategy. The strategy will be used to shape local 

health and wellbeing commissioning plans.  

 

Aims and principles 
The JSNA is not a decision making document.  

 

Instead, the JSNA has three key aims: 

1. To provide a single, comprehensive and trusted analysis of the state of health and 

wellbeing in Sheffield. 

2. To inform, and challenge where necessary, the key priorities of the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy. 

3. To inform commissioning decisions taken by commissioners across health and 

social care and the wider determinants of health and wellbeing (such as poverty, 

employment, education, housing, community safety and environment). 

To meet these aims, we have set out a number of key principles that the JSNA should fulfil: 

• Accessibility - the JSNA must be accessible to everybody with an interest in the 

City’s health and wellbeing.  It must be easy to navigate, understandable, and 

rooted in the real world.  It must become something that commissioners use on a 

regular basis when thinking about service provision. 

 

• Robustness - the JSNA must be based on the evidence, and trusted as the primary 

source of intelligence for health and wellbeing issues.  There should be no claim or 

assertion made in the JSNA that is not backed up by evidence.   

 

• Focus - the JSNA must cover the key, pressing needs in the City - this does not 

mean that it is exhaustive, covering every condition or every need, although 

comprehensive, base information upon which the assessment is made should be 

readily available. 

Page 13



6 
 

 

• Analytical - the JSNA must be a document that informs strategic commissioning 

decisions by providing analysis and interpretation of the key issues facing the City.  

 

• Timely - the JSNA must be as up to date as possible - otherwise it will quickly 

become of little use in informing commissioning decisions.  Therefore, the JSNA 

should not be simply a static document produced once a year. 

 

• Process and product - the process of producing a JSNA is as important as the final 

product, involving as wide a range of people and stakeholders as possible and 

drawing on as wide a range of evidence as possible. 

This document 
This is the first JSNA for Sheffield developed under the new Health and Social Care Act (2012).  

Therefore, we have adopted a very different approach from previous JSNAs in the City.   

 

We have taken the decision to organise the JSNA around the outcomes identified in Sheffield’s 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy as we believe this will best help us to fulfil our remit of 

informing the Board’s approach to tackling Sheffield’s health and wellbeing challenges. The 

document is therefore structured as follows: 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Our approach 
Our starting point for this JSNA was that we needed to bring together as wide an evidence 

base as possible.  This meant including traditional sources of evidence, such as population 

statistics and academic research, as well as what we term ‘voice’ evidence.  This involved 

Chapter 1  ���� Outcome 1:“Sheffield is a healthy and successful city”  

This chapter analyses the wider determinants of health. It focuses on the wider factors that 

influence our health and wellbeing, covering issues such as employment, poverty, housing, 

education, the environment, transport, crime and social networks. 

 

Chapter 2 ���� Outcome 2: “Health and wellbeing is improving”  

This chapter focuses on mortality (death) and morbidity (illness and disability). It looks at 

topics such as life expectancy, the causes of premature death, long term limiting illness and 

disability, infant mortality, healthy lifestyles and mental health and wellbeing. 

 

Chapter 3 ���� Outcome 3: “Health inequalities are reducing”  

This chapter looks at health inequalities. It focuses on geographical health inequalities and 

assesses these in terms of life expectancy, mortality and morbidity, children’s health and 

services.  

 

Chapter 4 ���� Outcome 4: “People can get the help and support they need” and… 

���� Outcome 5: “People get the services they need and they’re the sort of services they need 

and feel is right for them.”  

This chapter considers services. It focuses on service demand, primary care, hospitals, adult 

social care, children’s services, housing, VCF sector and how services will need to change in 

the future.   

Page 14



7 
 

talking with a wide range of partners and stakeholders from across the public, private and 

voluntary sectors to gather a range of different perspectives and experiences. 

 

We organised this through a series of JSNA events, which were held from January – March 

2013.  Four events were held in total, each one centred on a different JSNA chapter.  

We have triangulated the voice evidence gathered from the events with other sources of 

evidence and used this information to 

prepare our JSNA.  

 

We know that the JSNA cannot be a static 

document that is updated periodically. If it is 

to be of real use, it must be kept up to date. 

Our ultimate aim is to create an online JSNA 

that is constantly evolving to reflect the 

changing evidence.  Crucial to this is the 

development of an online data repository. 

This would bring together in one place all of 

the intelligence that we have on health and wellbeing and allow organisations in the City who 

have evidence on health and wellbeing needs to deposit this. Ultimately, we believe this data 

repository will make gathering and sharing data much easier and although this is a longer term 

ambition it is one to which we are committed to achieving during 2013.  

 

 

Page 15



8 
 

1 The wider determinants of health and wellbeing 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy Outcome 1: Sheffield is a Healthy and Successful 

City 

What does the draft Health and Wellbeing Strategy say?  

“Health and wellbeing in Sheffield cannot be improved by health and care services acting 

alone.  Absolute and relative poverty is at the root of poor health and wellbeing and there is 

good evidence to suggest that populations which experience lower levels of income inequality 

are less likely to be unhealthy than in those areas where there is a much larger gap between 

the best off and worst off in society.”  

The key measures that the Health and Wellbeing Board have identified for this outcome are:   

- Increased educational attainment 

- Increased and better employment 

- Reduced poverty 

- Better housing 

- Good communities 

- Use of green space 

What is the issue? 

The wider determinants of health are often described as the ‘causes of the causes’ of ill 

health. These wider determinants include issues such as: employment, education and skills, 

housing, the environment and crime, and all of them impact upon our health in one way or 

another. These factors are often inter-related and outside of an individual’s control.  They 

determine the extent to which a person has the right physical, social and personal resources 

to achieve their goals, meet their needs and deal with changes to their circumstances.  The 

diagram below shows these wider determinants in more detail and according to their 

influence, from those at the individual level to those in wider society.  

This chapter analyses the wider 

determinants of health. We will 

focus on: employment, poverty 

and welfare reform, education, 

housing, crime, the 

environment and social 

networks.   

What knowledge do we 

have? 

Employment 

1.1 There is a wide range of 

evidence that shows that work 

is good – and unemployment 

bad - for our physical and 

mental health
1
.  

                                            
1 The Marmot Review: 'Fair Society Healthy Lives, UCL Institute of Health Equity, 2010 

Figure 1: The Wider Determinants of Health 

Dahlgren, G. & Whitehead, M. (1991) Policies and strategies to promote social equity in 

health. Institute for Future Studies, Stockholm. Page 8 

Page 16



9 
 

1.2 Employment rate  

In Sheffield, 68.3% of the adult population (approximately 240,000 people) work. This is well 

below the national average of 72.9%
2
. In April 2012, 4.6% of the working age population was 

claiming Job Seekers Allowance (JSA), which was a fifth higher than the national average of 

3.7%.  Of particular significance is the increase in long term unemployment, which grew by 

56% between November 2011 and November 2012 and youth unemployment, which has 

risen significantly from the pre-recession period (2,665 in February 2008 to 5,475 in July 

2012), and far more rapidly than nationally². The long term unemployment trajectory and 

the issue of youth unemployment have significant implications for the health and 

wellbeing of the City and there is a need to support programmes which seek to address 

these issues. The ‘Whole Household’ approach being adopted within the City is one route 

in to doing so.    

1.3 Rates of unemployment in Sheffield vary by geography (with Hallam having an 

unemployment rate of 1.8% for example, whilst in Brightside it was 7.9%) and by an 

individual’s characteristics (rates of unemployment are highest amongst those with no or 

few qualifications and skills, those with caring responsibilities, lone parents, those from 

some ethnic minority groups, older workers, young people, people with disabilities and 

mental ill health) ². Any interventions to help people into work need to be targeted 

towards those areas and groups characterised by high unemployment levels.   

1.4 Quality of employment 

As the Marmot Review argues, the quality of work matters and getting people off benefits 

and into low paid, insecure and health-damaging work is not a desirable option. Low paid 

work can result in a lower standard of living, lead to unhealthy lifestyle behaviours (such as 

smoking and alcohol consumption) and make it more difficult to overcome mental health 

problems¹. Whilst we know that aaverage earnings in Sheffield in 2012 were £441 per week 

compared with £510 per week in the UK2, it is more difficult to measure the security and 

quality of work. It would seem likely that there are many people whose work is 

characterised by long hours and pervasive job insecurity, but as there is no current way of 

measuring this, it is impossible to assess need. Steps should be taken to measure the 

quality of work, increase awareness of the negative health impacts of ‘bad work’ and 

reduce their incidence and impact.  

Poverty and welfare reform 

1.5 Poverty  

As the State of Sheffield 2013 explains, the recession and on-going conditions of austerity 

raise serious concerns around poverty and inequalities in the City. Over one fifth of 

households in Sheffield are living in ‘relative poverty’
3
 (defined as having a household income 

less than 60% of the national average). It is no longer the case that work is the route out of 

poverty, as over 55% of children living in poverty in the UK live in a household where at least 

one adult is working
4
, which equates to 15,000 children in Sheffield. In terms of future trends, 

many of those already in difficulty will potentially face even more extreme hardship; 

additional groups currently on the margins of poverty and new groups of households who may 

have been financially secure previously could have new challenges to face. The likelihood of 

                                            
2
 State of Sheffield 2013, Sheffield First Partnership. 2013. 

3
 Sheffield Fairness Commission Report,2012. 

4
 A New Approach to Child Poverty: Tackling the Causes of Disadvantage and Transforming Families’ Lives, DfE, 2011. 

Page 17



10 
 

increasing numbers of people living in poverty presents a major challenge for improving 

health and wellbeing.  

1.6 Financial inclusion 

Financial inclusion was a major concern at our JSNA events and anecdotal evidence 

suggested that there had been significant growth in pay day loan companies and loan 

sharks in the City. This is reflective of the national picture, with demand driven by a 

combination of higher unemployment, low wage growth, rising fuel prices, food and 

transport costs and cuts in welfare spending
5
. We know that people living in poverty are 

most likely to use high cost credit and there is a danger that in doing so they become 

even more vulnerable and fall further into poverty. The Fairness Commission 

recommendations around the development of affordable credit, Credit Union and 

financial skills for young people represent a good way forward on this agenda  

1.7 Food poverty  

Rising cost of living, static incomes, changes to benefits, underemployment and 

unemployment have meant increasing numbers of people in the UK have hit a crisis that 

forces them to go hungry
6
. As the Fairness Commission report outlines, there are increasing 

numbers of people in Sheffield who are unable to access enough food or the right food to 

feed themselves and their families. Many people find fresh food expensive; struggle to 

access fresh food, cooking facilities and implements; do not know how to cook healthily and 

increasingly rely on processed and poor quality food. Nationally, there has been a 170% rise 

in numbers of people turning to food banks in the last 12 months, and Sheffield is no 

different⁵. According to the Sheffield Food Bank Network at least 11 food banks were known 

to be operating in Sheffield in October 2012, in comparison with 3 in early 2010
7
. The rise in 

food bank usage is dramatic, but predates the upcoming welfare reform, which could see 

numbers increase further in 2013-14. The increase in the number of food banks operating in 

the City indicates that food poverty is a growing problem. It will therefore be important to 

ensure that there is an equitable distribution of access to this provision across the City. 

1.8 Welfare reform 

Welfare reforms introduced by the Government as part of the 2010 Welfare Reform Act are 

already underway with more significant changes to be introduced. The overall impact is 

difficult to calculate at this stage, but our estimates suggest that Sheffield could lose £180m 

in benefits coming into the City per year
8
. There will be over forty changes to the welfare 

system between January 2011 and October 2013 and these will have a cumulative effect, 

with many households likely to be affected by more than one of the reforms. It is worth 

questioning how realistic the Health and Wellbeing Board’s aim of ‘improving health 

outcomes’ is given the impact that welfare reforms are likely to have, and the focus may 

be better placed on limiting the potentially negative impacts rather than health 

improvement per se.    

1.9 Welfare reforms are likely to have a negative effect on health and wellbeing and will be 

felt most in the areas already experiencing the poorest health outcomes
9
. Evidence suggests 

                                            
5
 Centre for Economic and Social Inclusion, 2013. 

6
 Biggest ever increase in UK food bank use, The Trussell Trust, 2012. 

7
 Sheffield Third Sector Assembly Submission to the Fairness Commission, 2012. 

8
 Estimate by Sheffield City Council. 

9 University College London Institute of Health Equity (2012) The impact of the economic downturn and policy changes on health 

inequalities in London. June 2012 P38 

Page 18



11 
 

welfare reforms will impact severely on the lower half of the income distribution, those with 

children and those living in the most deprived communities. There is evidence that families 

with children aged under five, families with more than two children and lone parent families 

not in paid work will bear the biggest financial pain in the years ahead
10

. It is important to 

ensure health and wellbeing provision in the City recognises the unequal impact of welfare 

reform, and in particular the potential ‘double negative impact’ for families with children 

aged under five, families with more than two children and lone parent families. 

1.10  Anecdotal evidence strongly suggests that there is very little awareness at the 

moment amongst those who will be affected³. High quality advice can have a positive impact 

beyond resolving the immediate crisis, including significant health benefits (particularly 

mental wellbeing)
 11

 however, the advice sector is struggling to respond to this increased 

demand, as it has seen reductions in local and, particularly, national funding. Welfare 

reforms are still not well understood and their impacts not well anticipated by the public. 

Organisations are responding to this challenge but more support is needed to enable them 

to manage this effectively. 

Education 
1.11 There is a clear association between education and health and those with better 

educational attainment usually experience better health. A good education can enable 

people to be more productive, earn a better living and enjoy a better quality of life.  

1.12 Early years 

The early years (0-5) are central to the life chances of children
12

. The Early Years Foundation 

Stage (EYFS) assessments
13

 show that the City’s performance has improved considerably 

since 2006, from a position of around the lowest 25% of local authority areas, to being 

broadly in line with the national average. Concerns were raised at our JSNA events that cuts 

to early years funding were contradictory to Marmot evidence and Sheffield City Council’s 

assertions of the importance of the early years. However further investigation revealed 

careful impact assessment is undertaken before this type of reduction is undertaken. Given 

that the early years are central to the life chances of children, any reductions in 

investment in this area could have a large impact and the impact of any such proposals 

should continue to be tested and evaluated. 

1.13 Age 11  

At Key Stage 2, 77% of children in Sheffield achieved at least Level 4 in both English and 

Maths, which was below the national average of 79%. Performance has improved 

significantly from the (very low) 2006 position and the gap between Sheffield’s performance 

and the national average has narrowed. Sheffield should continue to improve its results at 

Key Stage 2 and continue to narrow the gap with the national average. 

1.14 Age 16 

The key measure of educational achievement by age 16 (Key Stage 4) is the percentage of 

young people who achieve 5 GCSEs at grade A*-C including English and Maths. In 2012, 

55.6% of Sheffield’s children achieved this level, which is below the national average of 

59.4%. Between 2006 and 2011, the gap between Sheffield and the national average 

narrowed somewhat, although the performance of other local authorities improved faster 

                                            
10 The Equality & Human Rights Commission (2012) The equality impacts of the current recession. Research Report No 47, P38 
11

 The Sheffield First Partnership report on Financial Inclusion, Sheffield First Partnership, 2009.  
12

 Report on Poverty and Life Chances, Frank Field, 2010.  
13

 The most comprehensive measure currently available of the educational and social development of children at the age of 5 

Page 19



12 
 

than Sheffield. The City’s ranking out of 152 local authorities in England worsened to 139th.  

2012 saw a major improvement in Sheffield’s ranking position to 112
th

. As with Key Stage 2, 

the efforts to narrow the gap with the national average at Key Stage 4 should continue. 

1.15 Skills 

The emphasis cannot only be on formal education and there needs to be a focus on skills as 

well. The Sheffield skills profile now matches or exceeds national averages and outperforms 

most Core Cities at National Vocational Qualification levels 2, 3 and 4. The proportion of the 

working age population in Sheffield qualified at degree level or equivalent compares well to 

the national average. Employers, when asked, were clear that they needed people who were 

ready for work and can perform in the workplace however they stated that they could not 

always find this
14

. There is growing evidence that more intermediate and technical level 

skills are needed in the labour market, but improvements have been static in this area. A 

greater emphasis on intermediate and technical level skills would be beneficial. 

1.16 Skills are not just important in getting a job but in life more widely. Information and 

Communications Technology (ICT) skills are particularly important as society becomes ever 

more reliant on ICT, whether it be for shopping, finding information or accessing services. A 

concern raised at our JSNA events was the proportion of the population lacking ICT skills, 

particularly older people. Research clearly shows the benefits of digital inclusion. As such 

older people should not be regarded as a’ lost cause’; rather that they just need support
15

.  

It is crucial that, as we become ever more reliant on ICT, this is not seen as the only option 

and that alternative formats are provided and support is made available for those lacking 

in relevant skills. 

Housing 

1.17 Quality 

Housing forms an important part of people’s material living conditions and contributes to 

their health and their life chances
16

. Good quality housing is important for the health and 

wellbeing of the City’s population and by the end of 2012/13, 91% of Council properties 

were up to the Government’s Decent Homes standard.
17

  

1.18 Whilst the Council’s housing stock has received significant investment in recent years, 

the private housing sector has not, and a lack of investment, high demand and ageing stock 

are creating unsatisfactory housing conditions for a significant proportion of the City’s 

population. Only 64% of all private housing meets the Decent Homes standard
18

 and of 

particular concern is the private rented sector where just 55% meet this standard. A quarter 

of homes have Category 1 hazards
19

 (hazards that pose a considerable risk to the health and 

safety of the household such as damp and mould growth, excess cold and overcrowding). 

The poor condition of properties in the private rented sector should therefore be regarded 

as one of the biggest challenges facing the Council going forward, especially given the 

significant cuts to government funding in this area. 

 
 

                                            
14

 State of Sheffield 2013, Sheffield First Partnership. 2013. 
15

 Introducing another world: Older people and digital exclusion, Age UK. 
16

 The links between housing and poverty, Joseph Rowntree Foundation, 2013 
17

 This ensures that homes are warm, weatherproof and have reasonable facilities. See here for further information.  
18

 Private Sector House Condition Survey, Sheffield City Council, 2009. 
19

 Sheffield Housing Strategy 2011—2021, Sheffield City Council. 

Page 20



13 
 

1.19 Building 

In terms of house building, the current financial crisis has meant the scale of house building 

has fallen substantially from pre-recession levels and this has impacted on the availability of 

low cost homes in the City. The number of new housing completions has fallen from a peak 

of 2,882 in 2007/8 to 919 in 2010/11 and the number of low cost homes provided through 

developer contributions (where a developer builds a number of low cost homes as part of 

receiving planning permission for a certain site) was only 21 in the last three years 

combined
19
. The lack of house building, combined with difficulties in getting a mortgage, 

means that more and more of the population is being forced into renting, often in the 

private sector, where quality is typically poorer. Paragraph 1.18 refers. 

1.20 Fuel poverty 

Fuel poverty
20

 is a real issue for the City and living in cold homes can damage people’s 

health as well as being a potentially significant problem or risk factor in relation to winter 

deaths, people with chronic health conditions, and mental ill-health
21

.The elderly, children 

and those with long-term limiting conditions (which keep them at home a lot) are especially 

vulnerable. In 2010, 18.3% of households (42,190) in Sheffield experienced fuel poverty
22

, 

which is 1.9% above the national average but the 6
th

 lowest rate amongst the Core Cities. 

1.21 The key contributory factors to fuel poverty are fuel prices, household fuel 

requirements, and property-related energy efficiency. Looking forward, the negative drivers 

are that fuel prices will continue to rise, household incomes are falling or are set to fall at 

the lower end; and climate change. More positively, property-related and behaviour-related 

energy efficiency is improving and there is increasing co-ordination of fuel poverty initiatives 

in the City to maximise their impact. Realistically, fuel poverty is unlikely to be eradicated 

and therefore the aim should be to hold the rate of fuel poverty where it is or even reduce 

it by some percentage points and to ensure that interventions prioritise those households 

whose health is most adversely affected. 

1.22 Homelessness 

Becoming homeless has a huge impact on people: damaging their mental and physical health; 

chances of finding work; attendance at training; educational attainment; and disrupting family 

life. Many people who experience homelessness are able to find suitable alternative 

accommodation and move on to a more settled life quickly. For others, homelessness can go 

on for some time or recur and they may need more help and support to find a settled home. 

The rate of homeless acceptances in Sheffield in 2011/12 was 6 per 1000 households. The 

national average was 2.3 per 1000 households and the average for the core cities was 4.4. This 

is linked to Sheffield historically having more stock then demand. In 2010 Sheffield City 

Council agreed a three year homeless strategy at a time when homelessness was decreasing. 

The planned review of this strategy should be supported to ensure implementation in 2014.  

1.23 Temporary accommodation 

In 2004 the government set a target to reduce the use of temporary accommodation by half 

by 2010. The target for households in temporary accommodation in Sheffield was 121 but by 

2012/13 the actual number of households in temporary accommodation was 160. Sheffield 

also wants to reduce the number of households placed in bed and breakfast accommodation 

in an emergency and the aim is to stop using it all together. Sheffield compares well to other 

                                            
20

 A household is considered to be in fuel poverty if it needs to spend more than 10% of its income on fuel for adequate heating 

(usually 21 degrees for the main living area, and 18 degrees for other occupied rooms). 
21

 The Health Impacts of Cold Homes and Fuel Poverty, UCL Institute of Health Equity, 2011. 
22

 Annual Review of Fuel Poverty Statistics, The Department for Energy and Climate Change (DECC), 2012.  

Page 21



14 
 

local authorities; as at 31st September 2012 Sheffield had 0.7 families in temporary 

accommodation per 1000 households compared with a national average of 2.3. Homeless 

prevention is key to the work that needs to be undertaken to tackle homelessness and a 

homeless prevention plan will accompany the new homeless strategy. The clear priorities 

should continue to be to reduce the use of temporary and bed and breakfast 

accommodation and to focus more effectively on homeless preventions 

 

Environment  

1.24 Area satisfaction 

 Where we live and how we feel about the area can have a huge impact on our health 

and wellbeing. The results from the 2009 Place Survey
23

 showed that Sheffield residents 

were generally happy with the local area and the homes they live in. Around 80% remain 

satisfied with the local area, whilst almost 90% are satisfied with their homes. It has 

been shown that places where people get along well together tend to be places where 

people feel safer, live longer and respond better to emergencies or unexpected events, 

including adverse weather events. 75% of people agreed that people from different 

backgrounds did get on well together in their area, once those who had no opinion were 

excluded. Resilience was a big issue at our JSNA events; the more resilient a community 

is the better it can deal with change, but we do not currently have a consistent or 

comparable way of measuring resilience reliably. The Place Survey was disbanded in 

2009 and there is currently no replacement measure, making it difficult to assess how 

people feel about the areas in which they live. Consideration should be given to 

exploring methods for developing reliable and timely methods for capturing 

information on resilience. 

 

1.25  Green spaces 

Green public spaces are free for everyone to use and provide opportunities to increase 

physical activity, improve mental wellbeing and bring about community cohesion. They also 

represent a low carbon resource and are relatively low cost in terms of maintenance. 

Sheffield’s green spaces were seen at our JSNA events as a positive asset that the City needs 

to build upon, but it was also stressed that there are inequalities in terms of access to green 

space and in terms of the quality of green spaces themselves. Sheffield's Green & Open 

Strategy 2010-2030 contains ambitious targets for improving access to open spaces in all areas 

of the City and has established the “Sheffield Standard” - a quality standard for all of 

Sheffield's green and open spaces. The key aims of this Standard are to ensure that Sheffield's 

green and open spaces are safe, accessible, welcoming and clean in all areas of the City. 45% 

of all the sites Sheffield City Council manage now meet the Sheffield Standard and the aim is 

to increase this total by a further 3% per year (approximately 30 more sites in 2013/14)
24

.  

Every effort should be made to ensure this local target is achieved. 

 

1.26 This said, more needs to be done to ensure that land outside of the Council’s control is 

equally well maintained. Anecdotal evidence suggests that there are several sites in the 

                                            
23

 Sheffield Interim Place Survey, Sheffield City Council, 2009. 
24

 Sheffield's Green & Open Strategy 2010-2030, Sheffield City Council, 2010. 

Page 22



15 
 

City that are not looked after
25

. This land could be used in a more beneficial way and 

pressure should be placed on those with such land to take responsibility for it. One 

specific example concerns opportunities for outdoor play for children. There is extensive 

evidence to illustrate the importance of outdoor play opportunities
26

. It is important for 

the future health of the City that play opportunities are maximized, that developers 

understand the importance of such provision, and that their contributions are used in a 

way which maximises health gain and minimises the barriers to being able to play outside 

(vehicles can present particular barriers , and reducing vehicle intrusion can present 

particular opportunities
27

). Pressure should be exerted to ensure that green spaces not 

owned by the Council are well maintained and in particular this should focus on 

providing good quality places for children to play outside. 

 

1.27 Air pollution  

Air pollution has short and long term negative health impacts, particularly in relation to 

respiratory and cardiovascular health, including increasing hospital admissions. The overall 

mortality burden estimated to be attributable to long term exposure to particulate air 

pollution (PM₂.₅)
28

, at current levels (2010-2012) within the Sheffield population, is likely to be 

equivalent to between 231 and 292 deaths per year.
29

 The impact on mortality and morbidity 

is unequal however, with a disproportionate impact being experienced by the poorest, older 

people, the very young and people with existing heart or lung problems. There are therefore 

particular implications for health inequalities. Essentially poorer people are more likely to 

experience such pollution, usually because they live closer to major roads and industrial areas, 

and yet are least likely to produce it, given lower levels of car ownership or usage.  

 

1.28 Like many other major cities in the UK, Sheffield currently breaches UK and European 

Union thresholds for air quality.  Overall, air quality is generally improving in Sheffield, 

however in many areas, such as near the motorway and in the city centre, it has not improved, 

and some places have even experienced worsening quality. Sheffield’s ‘air quality action plan’ 

aims to improve air quality and it is important that this is delivered comprehensively across 

the City but with particular attention being paid to those most at risk. 

 

Transport 

1.29  Road safety 

In 2011 there were 1,233 recorded injury collisions, in which there were 1,692 casualties of 

all severities; nine people were killed; and 154 people were seriously injured. Compared with 

the 2005-09 average, in 2011, the number killed was 40% lower; the number reported killed 

or seriously injured casualties was 36% lower; and the number of children killed or seriously 

                                            
25

 JSNA Event, Sheffield City Council, 2013. 
26 NICE (2012) ’A world without play’ A literature review on the effects of a lack of play on children’s lives. Play England 

27 The ‘Playing Out’ scheme in Sheffield is being piloted as part of the launch of the Council’s 20mph policy. In the ‘playing out’ 

areas,  relevant streets are closed to traffic for a few hours to allow children to play on the road. 

28 Particulate air pollution (PM₂.₅) refers to fine particles in the air that are associated with human activity. Many are sulphates and 

most derive from combustion, particularly petroleum products (e.g. diesel) in vehicles. 

29 Committee on the Medical Effects of Air Pollution (2012) Statement on estimating the mortality burden of particulate air 

pollution at the local level – 95% confidence interval range shown. 

Page 23



16 
 

injured was 15% lower. No child has been killed in a road collision in Sheffield since 2007
30

. 

Overall, this downward trend is encouraging and these figures further reinforce the points 

made in paragraph 1.30 regarding the need to encourage active travel solutions such as 

walking and cycling as well as supporting the roll out of the Council’s 20mph policy. 

 

1.30 Nevertheless, road traffic casualties have a particularly strong correlation with 

deprivation. Residential areas with the highest levels of road traffic accidents and casualties, 

especially amongst children, correlate broadly with levels of deprivation. In these areas, 

children are more likely to play in the streets due to limited suitable play areas inside or in 

gardens, which reinforces the need for suitable outdoor play areas. Interventions on road 

safety prioritised in the areas where the casualty rates are highest should continue. 

Another key statistic is that young drivers are four times more likely to be killed or seriously 

injured on the roads than any other road user. Projects targeted at this road user group have 

seen the largest reduction in casualty rates in recent years and this work needs to be 

continued. Given the strong correlation between road traffic accidents and both 

deprivation and young drivers, interventions that target these should continue to be 

priorities for making Sheffield’s roads safer
31

. 

1.31 Healthy transport 

Active travel, such as walking and cycling (or even taking the bus instead of the car), provide 

effective ways of integrating and increasing levels of physical activity into everyday life, and 

are associated with a number of health benefits including improved mental health, reduced 

risk of premature death and prevention of chronic diseases
32

. We know that around 21% of 

adults are physically active in Sheffield, but do not have reliable data on how many people 

walk or cycle although there is good provision within the City for cycle training, 

incorporating cycling as an everyday mode of transport and local forums for promoting 

active travel. Steps should be taken to gather reliable data on active travel to help us know 

how many people make active transport choices and, where they are not able to do so, to 

promote them.  

1.32 Accessible transport 

Anecdotal evidence from our JSNA event and evidence from the Fairness Commission 

highlighted that some people could not access public transport which left them feeling 

isolated and excluded. Those living on isolated housing estates, in deprived areas, or rural 

areas can be at risk of being excluded from accessing opportunities as it is often not 

profitable or viable to run public transport services in these areas. Similarly, people may be 

unable to get to the bus stop, or if they can, find getting on a bus unaided impossible. This is 

typically the case for older people and those with a disability. For older people, there was 

clear, anecdotal evidence that simply getting from A to B can be extremely difficult, 

especially as the cost of a taxi is prohibitive on a low income. In addition, evidence from the 

South Yorkshire Transport Strategy (2011-2026) indicates that feelings of safety about using 

South Yorkshire Transport Strategy (2011-2026) indicates that feelings of safety about using 

                                            
30 All figures - Report on road casualties on Sheffield’s roads: 2011 Annual Report, Sheffield City Council. 

31 Sheffield City Council (2011) Annual Report on Road Casualties on Sheffield’s Roads 
32 ‘Healthy transport = healthy lives’, British Medical Association, 2011. 

Page 24



17 
 

public transport can also act as a barrier to use, particularly in terms of fear of verbal or 

physical abuse on buses
33

.
 

1.33 Difficulty in accessing transport is also cited as one of the main reasons why 

disabled people are excluded from doing the things that other people do
34. 

Local evidence 

indicates that transport is high on disabled people’s list of concerns, with over 50% saying 

that transport improvements would have a positive impact on their life.
35

 Making public 

transport accessible is key if we are to reduce isolation and enable people to have more 

control over their own lives.
  

 

Crime and safety 

1.34 Crime causes poor wellbeing for communities and serious health issues for victims 

and their families. Sheffield is the safest major city in England in terms of the levels of 

violent crime experienced.  Recorded crimes for violence against the person fell steadily 

over 2011/12 ending the year 13% lower than the year before, which equates to 793 fewer 

victims of violence
36

.  The recent introduction of alcohol diversionary schemes for example 

(such as Alcohol Fixed Penalty Notice Waivers), have contributed to reducing alcohol-related 

anti-social behaviour and violence. Conversely, domestic abuse related reported incidents 

continue to increase year on year, with over 10,000 incidents in 2012/13. This should not 

necessarily be interpreted negatively as we know a significant number of incidents go 

unreported and the rise may be a reflection of increasing public awareness following 

national and local campaigns alongside improved police domestic abuse processes
37

. When 

other cities experienced riots in the summer of 2011, Sheffield remained trouble-free.  The 

numbers of households who reported Anti-Social Behaviour (ASB) at least once during the 

past year reduced by 2.5% from 12,338 to 12,027 over the same period. This is equivalent to 

311 fewer households affected. There is a long-established link between drug use and 

offending with 23% of all individuals in drug treatment in Sheffield coming through the 

criminal justice system/drug interventions programme route. In terms of re-offending 

generally, South Yorkshire Probation Trust is the top performing Trust in England and Wales 

at reducing reoffending, and there has been a consistent reduction in the reoffending rate of 

around 12% over the past 3 years. Sheffield remains a safe city and the trends in falling 

crime and reoffending should be encouraged to continue. 

1.35 Youth crime 

There has been a significant reduction in the number of first time young offenders over the 

last five years, from 1,018 in 2006/07 to 279 in 2011/12. This is in line with the national trend, 

although Sheffield’s rate of improvement over the period has been slightly greater than in 

other areas. The City’s rate of first time offending is now less than the national average. 

However, the rate of reoffending rose between 2009 and 2010. Although the latest data 

indicate some improvement, this stood at 33.5% in early 2003. As the graph in Figure 2 

                                            
33 http://www.syltp.org.uk/documents/SCRTransportStrategy.pdf  
34

 Improving the Life Chances of Disabled People, Cabinet Office, 2005. 
35

 Sheffield Fairness Commission Report, 2012. 
36 South Yorkshire Police Data, 2012. 

37 British Crime Survey (2010) 

Page 25



18 
 

illustrates, the proportion of BME young people in the youth justice system (YJS) in 

comparison with the proportion of BME young people in national curriculum year (NCY) 

groups 7 to 14 (ages 11 to 18 years) has risen over the last four years and in 2012 the 

proportion in the youth justice system outstripped the proportion in national curriculum 

year groups 7 to 14. The overall picture in terms of youth offending is positive, although 

the increasing proportion of BME young people in the youth justice system should be 

prioritised as an area of concern. 

 
Figure 2: Proportion of young people in the Youth Justice System (YJS) compared with 
the proportion in National Curriculum Years 7 to 14 (NCY). 
 

 

1.36 Domestic abuse 

Domestic abuse can have significant, negative impact on people’s health and wellbeing and 

significant implications for services, particularly the NHS. Nationally 50% of women accessing 

services in the mental health system are survivors of domestic violence
38

 and in Sheffield, 50% 

of people in domestic abuse support services reported mental health problems
39

. It is 

estimated that around 10,500 Sheffield women (16-59 years) experience domestic abuse each 

year although approximately 2% of victims recorded by the police are in people over 59 years 

of age and around 5% of victims accessing support services are men and 1% are Lesbian, Gay, 

Bi-sexual or Transgender
40

. Sheffield is in the process of reconfiguring the support service 

provision for domestic abuse victims. A key focus will therefore be to increase the number of 

referrals from healthcare services, given that almost a third of individuals suffering from the 

physical or emotional effects of violence seek medical advice
41

.  

 

 
 
 
 

                                            
38 Department of Health (2003) Women’s Health into the Mainstream 

39 Sheffield Drug and Alcohol Commissioning Team (DACT)data. 

40 Sheffield Drug and Alcohol Commissioning Team (DACT)data. 

41 Department of Health. Protecting People, Promoting Health (2012) 

Page 26



19 
 

Social networks 

1.37 Strong social networks are often overlooked but are in fact critical to our health and 

wellbeing. A lack of social interactions can be as bad for health as smoking, obesity, lack of 

physical activity or misuse of alcohol
42

. Individuals who are socially isolated are between two 

and five times more likely than those who have strong social ties to die prematurely.
43

  

1.38 Anecdotal evidence from our JSNA event suggested that loneliness and isolation 

were big issues in the City, especially for older people, but due to the nature of isolation it is 

difficult to measure this. More work should be undertaken to understand the extent of 

isolation in the City. The health benefits of interventions that enable people to meet new 

people and develop social networks should be given greater recognition in our plans. 

 

In summary  

1.39 The wider determinants impact on our health and wellbeing and can lead to significant 

inequalities in health. 

1.40 The long term unemployment trajectory and the issue of youth unemployment have 

significant implications for the health and wellbeing of the City. The quality of work is 

important for our health and steps should be taken to try and measure this and to 

increase awareness of the issue.  

1.41 Over one fifth of households in Sheffield are living in poverty and food poverty is a 

growing concern. Welfare reforms will impact negatively on health and affect the 

poorest and more vulnerable members of the community disproportionately. 

1.42 Sheffield must continue to improve its KS2 and KS4 results to narrow the gap with the 

national average. The focus must be on school age education and lifelong learning. One 

example is ICT, with those lacking in ICT skills feeling increasingly excluded. 

1.43 The poor condition of properties in the private rented sector is one of the biggest 

challenges facing the Council going forward, especially given the significant cuts to 

government funding in this area. Fuel poverty is a real issue for the City and realistically 

we should aim to hold the overall rate of fuel poverty where it is or even reduce it by 

some percentage points as we are unlikely to be able to eradicate it.  

1.44 How we feel about our environment has a real impact on our health and wellbeing but 

it is difficult to assess this. Sheffield’s green spaces are an asset for the City, and it is 

crucial this land is well maintained and used to its full advantage. In particular it is 

important that play opportunities are maximised by providing good quality places for 

children to play outdoors. Air pollution is an issue and the ‘air quality action plan’ 

should be delivered comprehensively across the City. 

                                            
42

 Social Relationships and Mortality Risk: A Meta-analytic Review, PLoS Medicine, 2011. 
43

 The Marmot Review: 'Fair Society Healthy Lives, UCL Institute of Health Equity, 2010. 

Page 27



20 
 

Priorities: 
 

1.  Limit the negative impact of welfare reform: Welfare reform will have a huge impact 

on the City and a negative impact on health and wellbeing, for both those affected 

and health inequalities more broadly. We must minimise the negative impacts where 

possible and in particular the potential ‘double negative impact’ for families with 

children aged under five, families with more than two children and lone parent 

families. 

 
2. Focus on housing: Conditions in the private rented sector and fuel poverty are both 

real concerns in Sheffield and interventions should prioritise these two issues by 

focussing on those most at risk. 

 
3. Improve employment opportunities: Fewer people work in Sheffield than the 

national average and we need to improve volunteering, training and employment 

opportunities, particularly for young people. 

1.45 The trend in road traffic collisions is encouraging although there is a strong correlation 

with deprivation and young drivers.  Interventions targeting these aspects should 

continue to be priorities. Reliable data on active travel is critical if we are to know how 

many people make active transport choices and to help target where to promote them 

where such choice are not possible. Making public transport accessible is key if we are 

to reduce isolation and enable people to have more control over their own lives 

1.46 Overall, Sheffield is a relatively safe city but too many people do not feel safe when 

walking alone at night and this is an area that warrants greater attention 

1.47 More work needs to be undertaken to understand the extent of isolation in the City, the 

way in which it impacts on health and wellbeing and the health benefits of interventions 

that enable people to meet new people and develop social networks (such as lunch 

clubs for older people). 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 28



21 
 

2 Health and wellbeing 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy Outcome 2:  Health and Wellbeing is 

Improving 

What does the Health and Wellbeing Strategy say?  

“Health and wellbeing in Sheffield has improved in the past few decades and we have the 

highest male life expectancy and the third highest female life expectancy of the eight biggest 

cities outside London.  People in all parts of the City are living longer, deaths from major 

illnesses, especially heart disease and cancer, have reduced markedly and there has been a 

reduction in the number of people, particularly children, killed or seriously injured on our 

roads.  However, there are significant differences in the life expectancy between our least 

and most deprived communities as a result of wider social and economic influences.” 

The key measures that the Health and Wellbeing Board have identified for this outcome are:  

- Increased healthy life expectancy 

- Reduced infant mortality 

- Improved lifestyle choices  

-Increased wellbeing 

What is the issue? 

Health in Sheffield has improved significantly in the past few decades. People in all parts of 

the City are living longer and deaths from major illnesses, especially heart disease and 

cancer, have reduced. However, there are a number of areas of concern, such as infant 

mortality rates, unhealthy lifestyles, dementia and poor mental health and wellbeing that 

will require concerted action over the coming years if this trend in improving health and 

wellbeing is to be maintained. 

 

This chapter considers mortality and morbidity. We will focus on: life expectancy, the main 

causes of premature death, long term limiting illness and disability, infant mortality, 

healthy lifestyles and mental health and wellbeing. 

What knowledge do we have? 

Life expectancy  

2.1 One of the key indicators of health and wellbeing is life expectancy. Currently (2008-

2010) in Sheffield average life expectancy at birth is 78.1 years for men and 81.8 years for 

women – a gap of 3.7 years between the genders. In 1975-77 life expectancy was 69.7 years 

for men and 75.8 years for women with a gap between the genders of 6.1 years. As well as 

year on year improvements in life expectancy therefore, the gender gap has also narrowed. 

The narrowing of the gap is almost certainly linked to changes in employment patterns 

(especially types of work) and smoking habits. Comparing Sheffield to available England data 

shows that Sheffield’s life expectancy rates remain lower than the national average of 78.5 

years for men and 82.5 years for women
44

. Sheffield should seek to improve life expectancy 

for men and women further, so as to bring it in line with the national average whilst 

seeking to maintain the narrowing of the gender gap.  

                                            
44 Sheffield Director of Public Health report 2011 – http://www.publichealthsheffield2011.nhs.uk  

Page 29



22 
 

The main causes of premature death 

2.2 If one of our key ambitions for improving health and wellbeing is to increase life 

expectancy in line with the national average then we need to understand the factors that 

will contribute most to achieving that increase. We can see the main causes of premature 

death in Sheffield in the chart below. 

 

 
 

2.3 Cancer and cardiovascular disease 

It is clear that cancer and cardiovascular disease (such as heart attacks and strokes) account 

for around two thirds of premature deaths, which is consistent with the national picture. For 

all cancers, the premature mortality rate is equivalent to almost 600 deaths a year. Whilst 

this represents a continuing decrease, it is higher than the national rate, but the lowest rate 

amongst the eight Core Cities
45

.  The leading causes of cancer are smoking, alcohol and diet. 

For cardiovascular disease the local rate equates to around 340 deaths per year, which is 

higher than the national rate but again the lowest of the Core Cities.  An additional 50 lives 

per year would need to be saved to bring us in line with the national rates. The leading 

causes of cardiovascular disease are high blood pressure, smoking and diet. Cancer and 

cardiovascular disease are the leading causes of premature death in Sheffield and make a 

major contribution to the gap in life expectancy between the City and England as whole. 

As such these diseases, and the principal factors that cause them, should continue to be 

prioritised within health improvement plans. 

                                            
45

 The Core Cities are the economically most important cities outside of London in England. They are: Birmingham, Bristol, 

Leeds, Liverpool, Manchester, Newcastle, Nottingham, and Sheffield. 

Figure 3: The main causes of premature death in Sheffield 

Page 30



23 
 

2.4 Cardiovascular outcomes are the strongest indicator of the overall effectiveness of local 

prevention programmes
46

. Both ‘cardiovascular premature mortality’ and ‘cardiovascular 

premature mortality considered preventable’ rates in Sheffield are higher than England 

(66.7 versus 62.0 per 100,000 population, and 46.0 versus 40.6 respectively in 2009-11). 

However, both measures are within the 25
th

 percentile range of the England average and 

second only to Bristol of all the Core Cities. All have premature mortality rates within the 

25
th

 percentile range from the England average and so the overall preventable premature 

mortality rate for the City lies quite close to the England average (155 versus 146 per 

100,000 population in 2009-11). Over the last decade, cardiovascular premature mortality 

has reduced at a significantly faster pace in Sheffield than that experienced by England or 

the Core Cities. The picture is similar for the other major causes of premature mortality 

considered preventable, such as cancer. We should focus our efforts on maintaining and, 

where possible, escalating this trend. 

2.5 Liver disease 

One preventable disease area that merits closer attention however is liver disease. Although 

Sheffield liver disease mortality is currently in line with the national average, this masks the 

fact that premature deaths in Sheffield have been increasing at a much faster rate than 

experienced in England overall, although the most recent data show a decline. 

 

Figure 4: Trend in premature liver disease mortality 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
46

 This is because these are sensitive to a wide range of primary prevention measures (related to smoking, diet, alcohol, 

physical activity and air pollution), secondary prevention of cardiovascular disease and diabetes (such as drug treatments) and 

tertiary prevention (for example hospital-based cardiac and stroke care and rehabilitation). 

Page 31



24 
 

Estimates of the present make up of annual liver related deaths in the City show that 

alcoholic liver disease deaths predominate. Problem alcohol consumption also contributes to 

fatty liver disease, liver cancer and pancreatitis.
47

 This means ensuring that measures aimed 

at early liver disease detection and treatment are prioritised as a key means of reducing 

problem alcohol consumption and maintaining a reduction in premature liver disease 

mortality. 

 

Long term limiting illness and disability 

2.6 Living with a long term illness or disability can limit a person’s ability to cope with 

everyday life, lead to significant health and social care needs and impact significantly on mental 

health and wellbeing, especially depression. As average life expectancy has increased, so the 

demands on services that deal with longer term and chronic disease and disability have 

increased; and this trend is expected to continue.  

2.7 Neurological conditions 

10 million people in the UK are affected by a neurological condition and neurological conditions 

are the most common cause of serious disability
48

. They have a major, but often unrecognised 

impact on health and social care and 17% of GP visits and 19% of hospital admissions are for a 

neurological problem (mostly stroke, epilepsy, dementia, headache, head injury and multiple 

sclerosis)
48

. The number of people with neurological conditions will grow sharply in the next 

two decades due to improved survival rates and better health and social care. Comprehensive 

and up-to-date local data on neurological conditions is needed if we are to accurately assess 

need and to determine where best to focus interventions for improvement.  

2.8 Dementia 

There are currently around 6,400 people living with dementia in the City but this is expected to 

rise to over 7,300 by 2020 and 9,300 by 2030, with the biggest increase in people aged 85 and 

over. The population distribution varies with age across Sheffield’s neighbourhoods with the 

majority of people aged 85 and over living in Chapeltown, Burncross, High Green, Mosborough 

and across the south west of the City. It is especially important to target these areas with regard 

to planning for dementia care
49

. The anticipated rise in the number of people with dementia 

represents significant need and this will be particularly great in areas that have higher numbers 

of older people.  

2.9 Around one third of people with dementia currently live in largely private sector care 

homes, and the trend is towards entering care with more severe disease. Unpaid carers (mainly 

female family members) provide the majority of care in the community.  If current policies 

remain in place, by 2025 the demand for this type of care home accommodation is predicted to 

increase by 55% with 71% of the increase coming from people aged 85 and over. There will be a 

significant increase in demand placed on the health and social care system in Sheffield and as 

such dementia should be regarded as a top local priority. 

2.10 Early intervention can be cost effective and improve the quality of life for people 

with dementia and their families and carers, through enabling people to access suitable support 

                                            
47

 Deaths from Liver Disease, NHS End of Life Care Programme, March 2012. 
48

 Neuro Numbers, Neurological Alliance, 2003. 
49

 Sheffield Dementia Health Needs Assessment, 2011. 

Page 32



25 
 

services, delay or prevent premature and unnecessary admission to care homes
50

.  

• Carer support and counselling at diagnosis can reduce care home placement by 28%. 

• Early provision of support at home can decrease institutionalisation by 22%. 

• Active case management can reduce admissions to care homes by 6%. 

• Investing in preventative approaches helps maintain older people’s independence and 

wellbeing and contributes to efficiencies within the health and social care system. 

• Improving the experience of hospital care for people with dementia will assist in taking 

forward the reform agenda
51

. 

 

Sheffield has been chosen as an early adopter of the Prime Minister’s Dementia Challenge 

where the focus will be on creating dementia friendly communities. To support this work a 

local Dementia Action Alliance will be established.  Overall therefore the key priorities should 

be to increase awareness and understanding of dementia and promote early diagnosis and 

intervention.  

2.11 Diabetes 

In Sheffield around 1,000 new cases of diabetes are diagnosed every year and diabetes 

prevalence is expected to continue to rise for the foreseeable future. In spite of the rate of 

increase there is evidence that diabetes care is improving in the City. For example, the 

proportion of diabetes patients with good control of their blood sugar level, according to their 

GP record, has improved from 63% in 2009 to 73% in 2012
52

. This means that Sheffield has a 

favourable profile in terms of preventable morbidity and mortality outcomes and the 

individual disease contributions to that; especially so for a city population. The challenge for 

the City will be to at least maintain this favourable trend over the coming years in the 

context of economic and migration pressures and an ageing population.  

2.12 Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) 

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is an umbrella term that is used to describe 

conditions including chronic bronchitis and emphysema. COPD leads to progressive damage to 

airways in the lungs causing them to become narrower and making it increasingly hard to 

breathe. It is an incurable yet largely preventable disease. With early diagnosis and the right 

interventions, the disease can be slowed down allowing people to live healthy and active lives 

for longer. The most important risk factor is smoking, followed by social deprivation, diet, 

occupational exposure to fumes/dust, indoor pollutants such as smoke from wood and coal 

fires, and in some cases, inherited faulty genes. The number of people dying from COPD in 

Sheffield has remained relatively unchanged over the last few years. Recorded prevalence of 

the disease is 1.8% of the total Sheffield population, lower than the regional average of 1.9%. 

However, it is estimated that there are an additional 2.4% people (approximately 10,520) aged 

over 16 who are undiagnosed with COPD. We therefore face the continuing challenge of 

identifying undiagnosed patients and referring them for early intervention and treatment, 

both to increase survival rates and reduce the significant ill health burden sufferers can 

face.
53

 

 

 

                                            
50

 Impact assessment of the National Dementia Strategy, The Department of Health, 2009. 
51

 Evidence from the Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust audit 
52

 Public Health Outcomes Framework 2013-2016, Public Health England. 
53

 COPD Dashboard: NHS Sheffield, Yorkshire and Humber Public Health Observatory (YHPHO), 2011. 

Page 33



26 
 

2.13 Learning disabilities 

People with learning disabilities often face significant disadvantages in terms of their health 

and wellbeing. These can include shorter than average life expectancy, higher rates of 

avoidable or preventable ill health, unequal access to or low uptake of services and poorer 

outcomes in relation to the wider determinants of health and wellbeing such as employment 

or independent living. 
54

 Sheffield has a higher rate of people with learning disabilities than 

the national average – this relates both to adults (18-64 years) where the rate is 5.17 per 

1,000 people registered with a GP compared with 4.33 nationally, and to children where 35.20 

per 1,000 known to schools have a learning difficulty compared with 24.61 nationally
55

.  There 

is local evidence that these rates are all increasing
56

. As such commissioners will need to 

ensure services across the range of health, housing and social care (including prevention, 

early intervention, specialist care and transition from child to adult services) are able to 

respond to increasing numbers and need. 

 

2.14 The health and wellbeing of people with learning disabilities in Sheffield is generally on 

a par with the average for other people with a learning disability in England with some notable 

exceptions. For example, we know that people with a learning disability have been found to 

be 25% more likely than the general population to be admitted to hospital as an emergency, 

particularly for physical health conditions that would not necessarily require a hospital 

admission
57

. However, the emergency hospital admission rate for people with a learning 

disability in Sheffield (2010/11) is significantly lower than the national average. This relates 

both to admissions for physical and mental health needs
58

. Despite this finding however, more 

recent local data concerning the proportion of eligible adults (18-64 years) with learning 

disability who receive a GP check on their health has decreased in Sheffield from 58.7% in 

2010/11 to around 45% in 2012/13
59

. Whilst Sheffield uses the entire learning disabled 

population in this calculation (so a larger population than just 18-64 year olds is used) this 

could be indicating less effective primary care for people with learning disabilities. Trends in 

both GP health checks and emergency admission rates for people with learning disabilities 

should remain under surveillance to ensure appropriate action is taken as required. 

 

2.15 In terms of broader health and wellbeing outcomes, a lower than average proportion 

of people with a learning disability in Sheffield live in settled accommodation (68% of all adults 

with a learning disability in Sheffield compared with 70% for England) or are in paid 

employment (5.9% of all adults with a learning disability in Sheffield compared with 6.6% for 

England)
60

. Overall however the key concern is that the median age at death of people with 

learning disabilities in Sheffield is 46 years compared with 55 years in England
61

. This 

represents a significant gap, or health inequality, both between Sheffield and the rest of the 

country and between people with learning disabilities and the general population. As such, 

                                            
54 Improving Health and Lives: Learning Disabilities Observatory – www.gov.uk/government/organisations/public-health-england  

55 Data relate to January 2011. For children all four levels of learning difficulty are included (i.e. specific, moderate, severe and 

profound).  Learning Disability Profiles (2012). Public Health England. 

56 Sheffield Joint Strategic Needs Assessments for 2008 and 2010. 

57 Glover, G. and Evison, F. (2013) Hospital admissions that should not happen: admissions for ambulatory care sensitive 

conditions for people with learning disabilities in England. Learning Disabilities Observatory. 

58 Data relate to the period 2010-11. Learning Disability Profiles (2012) Public Health England 

59 Sheffield City Council – Adult Social Care Services performance data (2013) 

60 Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012) – Public Health England 

61 Data relates to the period 2010-2011.  Learning Disability Profiles (2012). Public Health England 

Page 34



27 
 

improving life expectancy for people with learning disabilities should feature as a key 

priority for improving health and wellbeing in Sheffield.  

 

2.16 Autistic spectrum disorders (ASD)  

There are as many as 6,000 adults with Autistic Spectrum Disorders (ASD) locally
62

 and we 

know this is the fastest growing area of ‘primary need’ in Sheffield.
63

 Whilst some adults with 

autism live fulfilling lives, contributing to their communities, the economy and their own 

families, too many are not able to do this, and are dependent on benefits and on the care and 

support of their families.
64

 Those without this support are at increased risk of physical health 

and mental health problems, homelessness, of being involved in crime, and of addiction. 

Autism is approximately four times as common in men as in women
65  

and it is significantly 

higher in adults with a learning disability - approximately 19% of adults with a learning 

disability have autism.
66

  There is a need for further work to better understand the number 

and needs of local adults with autism, improve the sensitivity of local services to people 

with autism, increase awareness within strategic planning and establish a local diagnostic 

pathway.
67

 

2.17 Sensory impairments 

Sensory impairments can have negative consequences for people’s health and wellbeing, and 

often lead to significant formal and informal caring costs. They affect older people 

disproportionately and can have a particularly serious impact on this population group in 

terms of social isolation and depression.
68

 In Sheffield around 2,600 people are registered 

blind or partially sighted (broadly on a par with national averages) and just over 700 people 

are registered as deaf or hard of hearing
69

. Despite this, over 40% of people over 50 years of 

age, for example, are estimated to experience some kind of hearing loss, rising to over 70% in 

people over 70 years.
 70

 Sensory impairments are also on the increase with the leading causes 

of blindness and partial sight loss and hearing loss estimated to grow by around 14% every 10 

years.
 71

 Sensory impairment will therefore be an issue of growing importance. 

2.18 A significant proportion of problems with hearing and sight can be prevented, treated or 

reduced yet the biggest problems faced are the degree of under-diagnosis of people with such 

problems, low levels of referral to appropriate services and, in certain cases, low uptake of 

relevant specialist screening services. This suggests there may be much greater numbers of 

people in Sheffield with such problems and these are increasing year on year. A more detailed 

assessment of sensory impairment is currently being undertaken and this should be used to 

identify the priorities for responding to this area of need. 

 

                                            
62

 National Autistic Society projections 
63 Comprehensive Health and Wellbeing Needs Assessment for Children and Young People with LDD (Learning 
Disabilities or Disabilities), The Consultancy Company, June 2009. 
64 Fulfilling and rewarding lives: the strategy for adults with autism in England, 2010. 
65

 “Estimating the prevalence of autism in adults: Extending the 2007 Adult Psychiatric Morbidity Survey”, NHS Information 

Centre for Health and Social Care, January 2012.  
66

 Sheffield Case Register records 
67

 Autism Strategy Implementation Plan, Sheffield City Council, 2013. 
68

 UK Vision Strategy and Action on Hearing Loss 2011. 
69

 Older People’s Atlas, West Midlands Public Health Observatory 2012 – now part of Public Health England. 
70

 Older People’s Atlas, West Midlands Public Health Observatory 2012 – now part of Public Health England. 
71

 Older People’s Atlas, West Midlands Public Health Observatory 2012 – now part of Public Health England. 

Page 35



28 
 

Child and maternal health 

2.19 Infant mortality 

Whilst not as great in terms of overall numbers of deaths, infant mortality (deaths in babies 

under the age of 1 year) impacts significantly on the overall average calculation of life 

expectancy. Currently the Sheffield rate is 5.2 per 1,000 live and still births (2011) compared 

with a national rate of 4.3 per 1,000 and is ranked fifth of the eight Core Cities
72

. As the graph 

in Figure 5 shows, since falling significantly between 2007 and 2009, the infant mortality rate 

in Sheffield has been rising slowly, widening the gap with national outcomes. Bringing infant 

mortality rates in line with the national average must be a priority for Sheffield. 

 

Figure 5: Sheffield trends in infant mortality 

 

 

 

 

2.20 Survival rates for babies born prematurely have increased significantly.  Table 1 shows 

survival to discharge for babies born between 20 and 32 weeks in three time epochs; 

from the entire Trent region in 1996, from Jessop Wing figures from 2001-2, and from 

the North Trent Neonatal Network in 2008-10.
73

  

 

 
 
 
 

                                            
72 Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012) – Public Health England 
73

 Due to data collection discrepancies, figures cannot be calculated purely for Sheffield. Although some of these figures are 

regional, they are reflective of the general trend in Sheffield over this period. 

Page 36



29 
 

Table 1: Percentage survival to discharge for babies born between 20 and 32 
weeks 
 

 
2.21 The increase in survival over time is apparent.  It has been particularly marked for 

younger age groups, although survival figures at more mature ages increased marginally. 

The increasing survival rates of premature babies in the City is clear, and although the 

percentage increase is small in the more mature ages, numerically the increase in survivors, 

particularly at the lower gestational ages (e.g. 2.7% at 23 weeks in 1996 to 34.3% in 2008-

10, 79.7% at 28 weeks in 1996 to 97.5% in 2008-10) is significant.  

2.22 One in every thousand new babies dies as a result of Sudden Unexpected Death in 

Infancy (SUDI). Whilst the overall numbers of SUDI are low, this is more than double the 

national average. SUDI has been highlighted in the Infant Mortality Strategy as an area 

requiring specific concerted action.
74

 

2.23 It is widely accepted that the health of a baby is crucially affected by the health of its 

mother
75

. The following risk factors are identified in our Infant Mortality Strategy as 

priorities for Sheffield:
74

 

• Maternal obesity is a factor in around 30% of still births or neonatal deaths (and 

approximately 35% of maternal deaths). The trend in the proportion of Sheffield women 

who are obese or morbidly obese is almost 22% and is increasing. 

 

• The percentage of Sheffield mothers smoking at delivery was lowest in 2009-2010 

(13.6% equivalent to around 860 mothers). Over the last three years this has increased 

to 14.1% (just over 900 mothers). This increase runs counter to the national trend. 

 

• Sheffield’s teenage pregnancy rate has reduced significantly over the last few years and 

now stands at 35.2 per 1,000 births in girls aged 15-17 years (2011). It has been 

consistently the lowest of the Core Cities but in the latest period is third and remains 

above the national average of 30.7.  

 

• Breastfeeding significantly increases a child’s chances of being healthy throughout life as 

well as conferring health benefits on the mother. In 2012/13 the percentage of mothers 

initiating breastfeeding was 77.7% however, by 6-8 weeks after birth, only 50.8% of 

babies were continuing to be breastfed.  

                                            
74

  Sheffield Infant Mortality Strategy and Delivery Plan, NHS Sheffield, 2011. 
75

 The Marmot Review: 'Fair Society Healthy Lives, UCL Institute of Health Equity, 2010 

Trent Jessop Wing NTNN

1996 2001/2 2008-10

23 2.7 16.7 34.3

24 28.0 68.4 54.2

25 36.5 70.8 77.4

26 55.3 80.0 85.7

27 71.0 74.0 90.6

28 79.7 88.2 97.5

29 86.5 95.5 98.3

30 89.9 93.3 99.4

31 93.4 96.4 99.6

32 96.5 98.7 99.4

Data Source: CYPF

Gestational age 

(weeks)

Page 37



30 
 

• The incidence of infant mortality (2009/2010) in the Asian & Asian British ethnic group 

(13.4 per 1,000 live births) in Sheffield is more than double the incidence for the White 

ethnic group (5.5 per 1,000 live births) and the rate in the Black and Black British group 

(10.9 per 1,000 live births) is almost double that for the White ethnic group
76

. 

 

Interventions that will have the greatest impact on reducing infant mortality will focus on 

reducing maternal obesity, smoking at delivery, teenage pregnancies and increasing 

breastfeeding.  

 

 Healthy lifestyles 

2.24 Certain lifestyles and behaviours, linked to the way we live our lives, are leading to a rise 

in the incidence of diseases such as cardiovascular disease, diabetes, liver disease and 

cancer. Unhealthy or risky lifestyles put people at greater risk of suffering from acute 

and chronic disease, leading to increasing need for health and social care and poorer 

health and wellbeing outcomes including premature death. Sheffield is not immune to 

this trend and there are significant and in some cases increasing, levels of need in our 

population. Primary prevention interventions that promote healthy lifestyles and 

provide help and support to individuals and communities are critical to efforts to 

reduce mortality and morbidity from chronic conditions 

2.25 Smoking  

Smoking remains the largest, reversible cause of ill health and early death in Sheffield. It is 

estimated that smoking related illness costs Sheffield up to £151.5m every year
77

 and overall 

accounts for approximately 900 deaths in the City each year; around almost 84% of all deaths 

from lung cancer; 86% from COPD; and 15% from cardiovascular disease. 
78

 It is estimated that 

currently 21.5% of the adult population (aged 18 years and over) smoke, which is slightly 

higher than the England average, (20.7%) but the second lowest among the Core Cities (range 

21.3% - 27.8%).  Smoking prevalence varies by occupation and by area. For example, in 

2009/10, the estimated smoking prevalence in routine and manual workers (32.7%) was 

significantly higher than that in the population as a whole (23.4%). Smoking is also estimated 

to range from around 40% of the adult population in the most deprived areas of Sheffield to 

just under 13% in the least deprived areas.
79

  

                                            
76 Sheffield Child Death Overview Panel 2009 and 2010 

77 The cost of local tobacco control. ASH (2012) 
78

 Sheffield Tobacco Control Strategy, 2009/10. 
79

 Data based on local modelling, SCC public Health intelligence Team. 

Page 38



31 
 

2.26 For several years now, approaches to reducing smoking in the adult population have 

centered on the Department of Health’s four-week quit target. As a result over 90% of 

resources available for tobacco control have been focused on the provision of stop smoking 

services
80

. Whilst there is evidence that these services offer value for money, rates of stopping 

smoking in Sheffield are the lowest in the region, although compare favourably alongside the 

national average
81

. The underlying level of smoking in Sheffield however remains virtually 

unchanged. It is therefore becoming clear that a comprehensive Tobacco Control Programme 

is now the only effective way to achieve further and greater reductions in smoking 

prevalence
82

.  Across South Yorkshire work has been undertaken with the University of 

Sheffield to help determine the correct balance of funding for a local Tobacco Control 

Programme in order to achieve optimum improvement in health within available resources. 

The results of this work should be used to inform the Sheffield tobacco control 

commissioning plans. 

2.27  Alcohol  

Alcohol consumption is linked to over 60 different medical conditions including liver disease, 

mouth, throat and other cancers, neurological conditions (including dementia), poor mental 

health, reduction in fertility, as well as acute conditions resulting from accidents, self-harm 

and violent assault. In Sheffield, 85.8% of people aged over 16 years are estimated to drink 

alcohol, higher than the national average of 84.5% and the other Core Cities. Sheffield has an 

estimated 51,000 ‘high risk’ drinkers
83

 and around 6,500 people are admitted to hospital each 

year due to alcohol-attributable conditions. Whilst the number of adults accessing local 

community alcohol treatment increased by 6% between the years 2011-12 and 2012-13, given 

the prevalence of high risk drinkers in Sheffield, efforts to increase the number of people 

accessing alcohol treatment year on year will be essential
84

. Our alcohol strategy should 

continue to focus on a range of approaches for tackling this issue, notably promoting 

screening and identification of people with alcohol related problems, including those from 

specific population groups (such as 18-25 year olds, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender 

people and people in the criminal justice system) to increase the number of individuals 

engaging with alcohol treatment alongside reducing the accessibility of alcohol, in line with 

government guidelines. 
85

  

                                            
80 All Party Parliamentary Group Report – Inquiry into the effectiveness and cost effectiveness of tobacco control (2010) 

81 NHS Stop Smoking statistics (Dept of Health) 2012-13 

82 http://www.who.int/tobacco/mpower/en/ - such programmes would include protecting people from exposure to second hand 

smoke, reducing the availability and supply of illegal tobacco products and help for those who want to quit. 
83

 ‘High risk drinkers’ – with an average weekly alcohol consumption of more than 50 units for men or 35 units for women 
84 Sheffield Drug and Alcohol Commissioning Team (DACT) data on access to community treatment (SEAP and structured 

treatment) 

85 Sheffield Alcohol Strategy 2010-14 - http://www.sheffielddact.org.uk/Professionals/StrategicDocuments.aspx  

Page 39



32 
 

2.28 Drug misuse 

Drug misusers often suffer from multiple vulnerabilities including poor physical and mental 

health, offending behaviour, homelessness or inadequate housing, lack of education and 

unemployment. The latest data show there has been a reduction in the prevalence of people 

using opiates/crack cocaine in Sheffield (the second lowest rate of the core cities) with around 

4,000 problematic opiate and/or crack drug users in the City (15-64 years)
86

. In 2012-13 over 

2,200 opiate users accessed structured drug treatment and over 300 individuals accessed 

treatment for non-opiate drug misuse. This represents a decrease of 4.7% between 2011/12 

and 2012/13 and is larger than the 2% national average decrease
87

. The emphasis on 

maintaining the numbers accessing drug treatment is therefore increasingly centred on the 

engagement of individuals using non-opiate drugs with treatment, particularly those using 

steroids, cannabis and the new psychoactive substances. A specific focus on certain 

population groups (i.e. young people, Lesbian, Gay, Bisexual and Transgender people) is 

required both in terms of recognising when drug use has become problematic and to ensure 

drug treatment services are accessible. 

2.29 Drug treatment 

The Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012) shows that Sheffield compares favourably 

with the England average for those successfully complete drug treatment in a year and do not 

re-present to treatment services within 6 months of completing their treatment. In 2011 8.5% 

of opiate users and 38.8% of non-opiate users in Sheffield achieved this outcome compared 

with 8.6% and 39.5% in England
88

. Local activity has however decreased in 2012/13 to 7.2% 

(opiate) and 38.8% (non-opiate)
 89

. The number of young people accessing drug and alcohol 

treatment has also declined from 155 (rolling 12 months) in April 2012 to 107 in March 2013
90

. 

These services however have a high level of planned discharges from substance misuse 

interventions, at 88% in Sheffield compared with 79% nationally
91

. Overall, completions from 

drug treatment must remain an area of focus. 

2.30 Drug related mortality 

In the past drug misusers were at high risk of death from an overdose. More recently 

however there has been a shift in the pattern of cause of death towards people dying 

of long term conditions such as Hepatitis C or venous disease due to their substance 

misuse. The number of people screened for blood borne viruses continues to increase 

with 94% of all new people arriving into structured treatment offered a Hepatitis B 

vaccination and 94% of injecting or previous injectors recorded as receiving a Hepatitis 

C test
92

. Harm reduction must remain a priority, particularly in relation to increasing 

the numbers screened, tested and referred for blood borne virus treatment. 

                                            
86 Hay, G., Anderson, R. and Millar, T. (2013) Estimates of the prevalence of opiate and /or crack cocaine use (2010-11) 

87 Sheffield Drug and Alcohol Commissioning Team data 

88 Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012) – Public Health England 

89 Diagnostic Outcomes Monitoring Executive Summary – Sheffield. Public Health England (May 2013) 

90 National Drug Treatment Monitoring System (NDTMS) May 2013 

91 Successful completion rates/planned exits are not comparable with the measure for adults. The direct comparison is that 41% 

of all drug treatment episodes are successful in adult treatment services in Sheffield compared with 43% nationally. Green reports 

for young people, adults and England. Public Health England May 2013. 

92 Sheffield Drug and Alcohol Commissioning Team (DACT)data. 

Page 40



33 
 

2.31 Obesity  

Obesity, poor diet and increasingly sedentary behaviour are associated with higher risk of 

hypertension, heart disease, diabetes and certain cancers. By 2015 it is estimated that obesity 

will cost Sheffield £165m per year. In terms of childhood obesity, in 2010/11, 22.7% of 4-5 

year olds and 34.7% of 10-11 year olds were classed as overweight or obese
93

. Overweight and 

obesity levels for both of these age groups have increased over the last four years, in line with 

most other areas of the country. In terms of people aged 16 years and over in Sheffield 23.7% 

are estimated to be overweight or obese
94

. This is slightly lower than the national average of 

24.2% but the 4th highest out of the eight Core Cities. Although reflective of the national 

picture, Sheffield’s rising trend in both adult and childhood obesity is worrying and poses a 

major risk to health. 

2.32 Obesity is typically caused by unhealthy food choices and sedentary behaviour. Sheffield 

has poor levels of diet and nutrition and it is estimated that only 25% of Sheffield adults eat 

five or more portions of fruit or vegetables a day, lower than the national average of 28%. 

Estimates suggest that around 580 deaths in Sheffield a year could be prevented if diets 

complied with national nutritional guidelines. In Sheffield around 18.7% of adults were 

estimated to be physically active in 2005/06 rising to 21.6% in 2011/12
95

. Lower than average 

levels of healthy eating are key to Sheffield’s increasing prevalence of obesity and although 

Sheffield has slightly higher than average levels of physical activity, the level is still too low 

and there is considerable room for improvement. 

2.33 Sexual health 

The consequences of poor sexual health include unplanned pregnancy, avoidable illness and 

mortality from Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs) and HIV/AIDS. Sheffield is ranked 83 out 

of 326 local authorities
96

 in England for rates of STIs in 2011. 4,350 acute STIs were diagnosed 

in Sheffield residents, a rate of 783.1 per 100,000 residents of which 70% were 15-24 year 

olds
97

.  The burden of sexual ill health is not equally distributed in the population but 

concentrated amongst the most vulnerable including men who have sex with men, young 

people and BME groups.   

                                            
93

 National Child weighing and measuring programme, 2010-2011. 
94 Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012) – Public Health England 

95 Sport England ‘Active People’ data  
96

N.B first in the rank has the highest rates 
97

 Sexually transmitted infections epidemiology report, HPA Sheffield Local Authority, 2011 

Page 41



34 
 

2.34 Evidence from our local health needs assessment indicates we should maintain focus on 

reducing teenage conceptions, unplanned pregnancies and prevalence of STIs/HIV through 

increasing access to contraception and STI/HIV testing, specifically for high risk groups, 

alongside a focus on health promotion and education (especially peer education
98

) to improve 

public awareness and encourage safer sexual behaviour. Key to achieving good sexual health 

outcomes is the commissioning of universal open access sexual health services via a ‘hub and 

spoke’ model which focuses on the development of community based outreach sexual health 

services.
97

 Services need to be fully integrated to offer patients a single point of access, 

pathways between primary and secondary care services should be prioritised and 

organisations should work collaboratively to look at how new and existing services and 

interventions can meet the needs of our local population.  Sheffield’s sexual health 

interventions must focus on reducing teenage conceptions, unplanned pregnancies and 

prevalence of STIs/HIV. 

2.35 Oral health 

Tooth decay is the main oral health problem affecting children in Sheffield, and has significant 

impacts on the daily lives of children and their families including pain, sleepless nights and 

time missed from school and work.  In 2007/8, the average number of decayed, missing and 

filled primary (baby) teeth for 5-year-old schoolchildren was 1.66, which was higher than the 

average for the Yorkshire and the Humber region (1.51) and for England (1.11).  Of the 41% of 

children with experience of tooth decay, each child had an average of 3.8 affected teeth
99

. For 

12-year-old Sheffield schoolchildren in 2008/9, the average number of decayed, missing and 

filled permanent teeth was 0.97.  This was lower than the average for the region (1.07), but 

higher than the average for England (0.74).  Of the 41% of children with experience of decay 

or its management, the average number of teeth affected was 2.4
100

. Within the City, there 

are inequalities in the distribution of tooth decay between wards.  In 2011/12 for example, 

the average number of decayed teeth in some wards was eight times higher than in other less 

deprived wards of the City.  The wards with the highest decay experience currently include 

Burngreave, Central, Southey and Darnall. The main risk factors for tooth decay are diets high 

in sugars and lack of exposure to fluoride therefore tooth decay is largely preventable.  Local 

data should continue to be used to inform oral health improvement strategies. 

2.36  We currently do not have comprehensive, good quality local data on lifestyles. In order 

to develop a more detailed understanding of how lifestyles vary and are changing across our 

population, we need a local population survey or access to the data held on GP clinical 

information systems. This would support an integrated and targeted approach to achieving 

improvements where they are needed most and support setting this work in the context of 

people’s daily lives. Comprehensive local data on lifestyles is needed if we are to have a 

detailed understanding of how they vary and are changing across our population. 

 

Mental health and wellbeing 
 

2.37  People with good mental health and wellbeing tend to experience lower rates of 

physical and mental illness, recover more quickly when they do become ill (and for longer) and 

                                            
98

 Our JSNA Events highlighted peer education in particular as a successful sexual health intervention  
99 NHS Dental Epidemiology Programme 2008 

100 NHS Dental Epidemiology Programme 2009 

Page 42



35 
 

generally experience better physical and mental health outcomes. Good mental health and 

wellbeing also represents a significant asset in terms of underpinning broader outcomes such 

as educational attainment and employment opportunities.
101

 

2.38 Wellbeing 

In 2012 the Office for National Statistics carried out a national survey of subjective wellbeing 

or ‘happiness index’. For Sheffield this confirmed pre-existing evidence that feelings of 

wellbeing are generally at their lowest in the working age population and higher among 

younger and older people. Looking at the four key indicators measured in the survey however, 

Sheffield’s wellbeing is poorer than the average for England, and significantly so in terms of 

the percentage of people reporting low levels of feeling happy.
102

 

 

 

 

 

2.39 Mental wellbeing can positively affect almost every area of a person’s life –

relationships, family, education and employment. It can help people achieve their potential, 

realise their ambitions, cope with adversity, work productively and contribute to their 

community and society. Improving mental wellbeing is supported through universal 

approaches to encourage understanding of the behaviours and interventions that can 

promote wellbeing and enhance resilience
103

. 

 

2.40 Those groups in the population most at risk of mental ill-health include: people who 

are at risk of being homeless; new and expectant mothers (e.g. post-natal depression); people 

misusing alcohol and other substances; people undergoing significant life stresses (such as 

debt or bereavement); people with a long term health problem or limiting illness; prisoners 

and people in contact with the criminal justice system; survivors of abuse or people who were 

in care as children; and asylum seekers and refugees.
104

 Clearly, if we are to promote 

improved mental health and wellbeing within the general population, we need to combine 

                                            
101 HM Government: No health without mental health, a cross government mental health outcomes strategy for people of all ages. 

2011. London:HM Government. 

102 Department of Health (2012) Improving outcomes and supporting transparency. Part 2: Summary technical specifications of 

public health indicators. 

103 New Economics Foundation & NHS Confederation (2011) Five Ways to Wellbeing – new applications, new ways of thinking. 

New Economics Foundation, London. 

104 Government Office for Science. Mental capital and wellbeing:making the most of ourselves in the 21st century – Foresight 

Report, 2008. 

Indicator Sheffield England

% of respondents with a low score of satisfaction with life 26.1% 24.3%

% of respondents with low score of feeling that things they do are worthwhile 21.1% 20.1%

% of respondents with low score of feeling happy yesterday 31.3% 29.0%

% of respondents with high score of anxiety yesterday 42.3% 40.1%

Data Source: Annual Population Survey, April 2011 – March 2012, Office for National Statistics

Table 2: Estimates of subjective wellbeing 

Based on the four new national subjective measures currently being piloted by the 

Page 43



36 
 

universal approaches which raise awareness and understanding and reduce the stigma 

around mental illness with the need to identify those people within our local population 

most at risk of developing mental health problems and to develop and target health 

promoting interventions directly to them.  
 

2.41 Children’s mental health 

Half of adult mental health problems start before the age of 14. Early intervention to 

support children and young people with mental health and emotional wellbeing issues is 

vital and local authorities have a duty to co-operate to promote wellbeing among 

children and young people; Looked after Children are particularly at risk of developing 

mental health problems.
105

 The main indicator used to measure emotional wellbeing in 

Looked After Children (aged between 4-16 years) is the total difficulties score. The 

average score for Sheffield’s Looked After Children is 15.4% which is considerably higher 

than the average for England at 13.9% and is the second highest average score of the 

Core Cities.
106

  Early intervention to support children and young people with mental 

health and emotional wellbeing issues is vital and particular attention must be paid to 

Looked After Children, especially given Sheffield’s high total difficulties score. 

 

2.42 Mental ill health 

Mental health problems are common, with one in four people experiencing a mental health 

problem in their lifetime and around one in one hundred people suffering a severe mental 

health problem.
 107

 In relation to common mental health problems, such as depression and 

anxiety, around 12.27% of Sheffield adults are estimated to have depression compared with 

11.68% in England. Major depressive disorder is increasingly seen as chronic and relapsing, 

resulting in high levels of personal disability, lost quality of life for individuals, their family and 

carers, multiple morbidity, suicide, higher levels of service use and many associated economic 

costs. 
108

 In terms of severe mental illness (such as psychosis or severe depression) the latest 

figures for Sheffield (2011-12) suggest that the number of people with a psychosis (all ages) 

registered with a Sheffield GP practice was approximately 4,500. When considered as a 

percentage of all people registered with a Sheffield GP, this represents 0.80% which is on a par 

with the England average of 0.82%
109

.  

 

2.43 Excess mortality and morbidity 

People with a severe mental illness have a threefold increased risk of premature death than 

those without such an illness and a reduced life expectancy of approximately 16 years for 

women and 20 years for men. Although suicide accounts for around 25% of these deaths, 

physical illnesses account for the other 75% with cardiovascular disease being the most 

common cause of premature death in people with mental ill health and diabetes the most 

                                            
105

 No Health without Mental Health: A cross-government mental health outcomes strategy for people of all ages, HM 

Government, 2011 
106

 Public Health Outcomes Framework 2013-2016, Public Health England. 
107 HM Government: No health without mental health, a cross government mental health outcomes strategy for people of all ages. 

2011. London:HM Government. 

108 Community Mental Health Profiles (2012). www.nepho.org.uk/cmph 

109 The Information Centre for Health and Social Care: Compendium of Clinical and Health Indicators. 

http://indicators.ic.nhs.uk/webview/  

Page 44



37 
 

significant cause of increased ill health.
110

 Smoking rates in people with mental health 

problems are, on average, twice as high as those in the general population. As such, smoking 

related illness and early death is also greater
111

. In addition people with mental health 

problems have over three times the odds of losing their teeth than the general population. 

Contributory factors include lack of motivation/self-care, poor oral hygiene, fear, costs, 

problems accessing a dentists and side effects of many psychiatric drugs. Wider health risks 

may be exacerbated as poor oral health can be linked to physical health problems including 

stroke, cardiovascular disease and diabetes
112

,
113

. 

 

2.44 The excess premature mortality rate in Sheffield people with a mental illness (988 per 

100,000 population) is higher than that for England (921 per 100,000 population). The 

mortality rate from suicide and undetermined injury however, at 6.45 per 100,000 population 

(2009-2011) is much lower than the average for England (7.87 per 100,000 population)
114

. In 

the recent National Audit of Schizophrenia (2012) while Sheffield had the second best record 

nationally for avoiding prescribing more than one antipsychotic drug and the best for not 

exceeding recommended doses, it was ranked lowest in the sample of service users for having 

their weight monitored in the previous 12 months and was below the national average for 

checking blood pressure, smoking status and alcohol intake, and general physical health 

monitoring.
115

 There is therefore good national and local evidence to indicate that more can 

and should be done to promote better physical health and wellbeing in Sheffield people 

with mental health problems
116

,
117

. This is why Sheffield’s ‘Right First Time’ programme now 

includes a specific project on physical health and severe mental illness where the emphasis is 

firmly on reducing inequalities in mortality and morbidity among people with mental health 

problems.
118

 

 

2.45 Treatment 

Treatment and early intervention can help to minimise the impact of mental illness and 

improve overall wellbeing. The majority of treatment for mental ill health is delivered through 

general practice with more severe or enduring problems referred on to secondary health care. 

Admissions to hospital for a mental health condition should be avoided, where appropriate, 

through the use of early intervention for first episode of psychosis, assertive community based 

services and crisis teams. A high number of people in contact with mental health services may 

indicate a particularly high prevalence in the population, but it may also therefore reflect good 

                                            
110 De Hert M, Dekker JM,Wood D,et al. Cardiovascular disease and diabetes in people with severe mental illness position 

statement from the European Psychiatric Association, supported by the European Association for the Study of Diabetes and the 

European Society for Cardiology. European Psychiatry. 2009;24:412-24. 

111 Sheffield Tobacco Control Strategy 2009/10 

112 Chapple IL. The impact or oral disease upon systemic health – symposium overview. Journal of Dentistry 2009;37:S568-71 

113 Kiesley et al The British Journal of Psychiatry (2011) 199, 187-93. 

114 Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012) – Public Health England 

115 National Schizophrenia Audit (2012) 

116 Curtiss JH and Newall et al (2012) The heart of the matter: cardiometabolic care in youth with psychosis. Early Intervention in 

Psychiatry. 6(3) 347-53 

117 Lester H. Shires DE. Et al (2012) Positive Cardiometabolic Health Resource – an intervention framework for patients with 

psychosis on antipsychotic medication. Royal College of Psychiatrists. London. 

118 Right First Time – working together to transform Sheffield’s health and social care services. www.sheffieldccg.nhs.uk  

Page 45



38 
 

recognition and diagnosis of conditions and availability of appropriate treatment services in 

line with best practice in acute care and recovery pathways
119

.  

 

2.46 The hospital admission rate for mental ill health in Sheffield (2009-10 to 2011-12) is 

significantly higher than the England average at 388 per 100,000 population compared 

with 243 per 100,000. This is particularly the case for schizophrenia, schizotypal and 

delusional disorders. In addition, people from some BME communities are twice as likely 

to be admitted to in-patient mental health services and up to five times more likely to be 

compulsorily admitted under the Mental Health Act
120

. Conversely however, Sheffield has 

lower than average numbers of adults using mental health services; numbers on the Care 

Programme Approach
121

; and number of contacts with a Community Psychiatric Nurse.
122

  

 

2.47 There is also evidence from our JSNA events to suggest that demand for medium to 

longer term community based counselling and therapy is increasing significantly at a time 

when both the public and voluntary sector provision is experiencing difficulties. Pilot funding 

in some parts of the country has been made available to extent ‘Improving Access to 

Psychological Therapies’ (IAPT) to those with major mental health problems. These areas 

require more detailed analysis, particularly within the context of a refreshed mental health 

needs assessment and the ‘Right First Time’ programme. 

 

2.48 Outcomes 

Improving outcomes is the aim of all mental health services in line with the NHS Mandate. 

There is little data available however about patients following their use of mental health 

services, although recovery rate following treatment by IAPT services is one such direct 

indicator. For existing IAPT services, Sheffield is on a par with England on this indicator with 

46.6 per 1,000 of Sheffield adults referred into IAPT for mild to moderate mental health 

problems on the road to recovery in 2011-12 compared with the national average of 43.8 per 

1,000. Nevertheless, there is potential for this to be significantly better given that the best 

rate in the country is 65 per 1,000
 123

 and this reinforces the need to improve measurement 

of post treatment outcomes and consider cross organisational and cross pathway data 

sharing on reducing mortality, improving quality of life, readmission rates and patient safety 

and experience measures. 

 

2.49 Taking the wider determinants of health into account, again outcomes for people with 

mental health problems are less good than the general population. For example, in 2011-12 

while the proportion of people in contact with mental health services who live independently 

was steadily improving in Sheffield and better than average (73.5% in Sheffield compared with 

66.8% in England) the proportion in employment remained stubbornly low at 7.7% compared 

with 9.5% nationally
124

. Similar to people with long term conditions or learning disability, low 

                                            
119 NICE Guideline – Psychosis and Schizophrenia in Adults (2013) Update – forthcoming.  

120 Mental Health Needs Assessment (2009) – NHS Sheffield and Sheffield City Council. 
121 The Care Programme Approach is a way of co-ordinating community mental health services for people with 
severe and enduring mental health problems. It involves carrying out a comprehensive assessment and producing 
a care plan for each patient 
122 Community Mental Health Profile for Sheffield (2012). www.nepho.org.uk/cmhp  

123 Community Mental Health Profile for Sheffield (2012). www.nepho.org.uk/cmhp  

124 The figures quoted are taken from the Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012). More recent local data suggest that the 

proportion in settled accommodation is 85.5% and just 5.5% for those in employment (Sheffield Health & Social Care Foundation 

Trust, March 2013) 

Page 46



39 
 

level of employment remains a major cause of deprivation and inequality for this population 

group. 

 

In summary  

2.50 Sheffield average life expectancy at birth is 78.1 years for men and 81.8 years for 

women. Whilst this represents a longstanding trend of year on year improvements, both 

remain lower than the national average of 78.58 years for men and 82.57 years for 

women. 

2.51 In terms of the major killers, cancer and cardiovascular disease account for around 60% 

of premature deaths in Sheffield, consistent with the national picture. For both the 

premature mortality rate from all cancers and cardiovascular disease, Sheffield has the 

lowest rates amongst the Core Cities but figures remain higher than the national 

average. We are detecting a worrying upward trend in both ill health and mortality 

linked to liver disease. 

2.52 We currently have around 6,400 people living with dementia in the City, and this is 

expected to rise to over 7,300 by 2020 and over 9,300 by 2030.  Early diagnosis and 

intervention improves quality of life and can delay or prevent premature and 

unnecessary admission to care homes.  

2.53 The infant mortality rate in Sheffield is 5.2 per 1,000 live and still births (2011) 

compared with a national rate of 4.3 per 1,000. Infant mortality has been slowly rising, 

widening the gap with national outcomes.  

2.54 Smoking remains the single largest, reversible cause of ill health and early death in 

Sheffield. Continued action is required here and across a range of unhealthy or risky 

lifestyle issues in Sheffield including alcohol consumption, drug use, levels of child and 

adult obesity, diet and nutrition, physical activity and sexual health. 

2.55 1 in 4 people will experience a mental health problem at some point in their life. In 

terms of severe mental health problems, Sheffield has a higher excess premature 

mortality rate for people with a severe mental illness than England as a whole and may 

also experience poorer levels of wellbeing. Promoting mental health and wellbeing for 

all is crucial to achieving health and wellbeing outcomes across the board. 

Page 47



40 
 

Priorities: 

 
4. Mental wellbeing: Sheffield experiences poorer levels of mental wellbeing than the 

national average. We need a more comprehensive understanding of the specific 

factors that contribute to wellbeing if we are to improve it. 

 

5. Focus on the leading causes of mortality and morbidity: Long terms conditions (such 

as coronary heart disease and cancer) are among the leading causes of premature 

death in Sheffield and dementia a significant factor in increasing morbidity. This will 

have significant implications for health and social care services including acute 

hospital services, residential care and end of life care. These must be a priority for 

health and social care commissioners for the foreseeable future 

 

6. Smoking remains the largest, reversible cause of ill health and early death in 

Sheffield. Evidence places increasing importance on implementation of a 

comprehensive tobacco control programme as the key means by which to prevalence 

of smoking in the future. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Page 48



 

40 
 

3 Health inequalities 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy Outcome 3:  Health inequalities are 

reducing 

What does the Health and Wellbeing Strategy say?  

“This outcome is about focusing on those people and communities who experience the 

poorest health and wellbeing. People in the most deprived parts of Sheffield still experience a 

greater burden of ill health and early death. If we are to address some of the major health 

and wellbeing issues affecting Sheffield today, we need to focus on those people and 

communities who experience the poorest health and wellbeing.” 

The key measures that the Health and Wellbeing Board have identified for this outcome 

are:  

- Reducing health inequalities 

- Improved access to health for different groups 

- Improved outcomes for disadvantaged groups 

- Improved environment for different geographical areas 

What is the issue? 

3.1 Sheffield is characterised by stark inequalities between different groups of people 

and between different geographical communities.  People in the most deprived parts of 

the City still experience a greater burden of ill-health and early death than people in less 

deprived areas, demonstrating that inequalities in health and wellbeing are linked to 

wider social, cultural and economic issues.  It is acknowledged that putting additional 

support into the most disadvantaged areas and raising standards there will have a 

beneficial effect on the whole community.
125

 Currently however we do not know the 

extent to which the distribution of resources is linked to the distribution of need. 

3.2 However the concept of the inverse care law presented by Tudor Hart in 1971
126

 is 

relevant in a system likely to be affected more prominently by market forces such as the 

system that currently exists.  This concern is re-iterated in the Fairness Commission 

recommendation which states ‘Health and Wellbeing Board partners from the Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Sheffield City Council must ensure that health spending across 

the City is more fairly utilised based on the relative needs of the communities. This 

includes making services more accessible and appropriate to groups who currently 

underuse services’. The Health and Wellbeing Board needs to establish if health-spend 

across the City is following the clearly identifiable health inequalities. 

 3.3 Whilst we have good data on inequality by geography, we do not have it by group. 

Groups such as ‘Looked After Children’, children with learning difficulties and disabilities, 

some BME communities, migrant and asylum communities, homeless people, victims of 

domestic and sexual abuse, carers and lesbian, gay, bisexual and transgender people, are 

all reported nationally to have below average health, but local data are lacking. These 

‘communities of interest’ are not all contained within the geographical inequalities 

already identified, although there is a strong enough correlation for us to deal 

                                            
125 Clustering of unhealthy behaviours over time: Implications for policy and practice, King’s Fund, 2012. 

126 Hart, J. T. (1971) The Inverse Care Law. The Lancet. i. 405-12 

Page 49



 

41 
 

predominantly with the geographical perspective within this chapter. 

This chapter analyses health inequalities. We will focus on: geographical inequalities in 

terms of life expectancy, morbidity, children’s health, the wider determinants and service 

access.  

 

What do we know?  

3.4 Overall, the health of the City continues to improve and people in all parts of the City 

are living longer. However, whilst it is easy to think of Sheffield as a whole, there are 

many differences within the City and health inequalities are a persistent problem. 

Life expectancy 
3.5 Inequalities in life expectancy by area 

The ‘Slope Index of Inequality in Life Expectancy’ measures the gap (in years) in life 

expectancy between the most and least deprived people in the area. The gap in life 

expectancy between the most and least deprived people in Sheffield is 8.6 years for men 

(2008-10) and 8.2 years for women (2008-10).  

3.6 Inequalities in life expectancy over time 

Sheffield trends in the gap in life expectancy for the period 2001-2003 to 2008-2010 are 

shown separately for men and women in Figure 6. The overall trend is one of the gap in life 

expectancy narrowing for men and widening for women. Possible explanations for this 

gender difference include changes in occupational patterns, smoking behaviour, alcohol 

consumption and the prevalence of obesity. Whilst the narrowing of the gap in life 

expectancy for men is encouraging, the increasing inequality in women’s life  

expectancy is of concern and should be prioritised. 

  

 

 

 
 

 

Figure 6: Changes in the inequalities in life expectancy 
over time 

Page 50



 

42 
 

 
Mortality and morbidity  

3.7 We know, both from local data such as the ‘Sheffield Health and Illness Prevalence’ 

surveys, as well as from elsewhere, that inequality in morbidity across the City is every bit 

as great as inequality in mortality.
127

 Although this source of information is now dated 

and there is a need for a more recent assessment, we know that generally speaking, if we 

were to map the distribution of a range of health conditions, such as coronary heart 

disease or preventable cancers, the inequalities in outcomes would replicate those of life 

expectancy. In particular, we have looked at the potential gains in male and female life 

expectancy that could be achieved if men and women in the most deprived parts of the 

City experienced the same level of mortality as men and women in the rest of the City. As 

the two charts in Figure 7 illustrate, the top three greatest gains in life expectancy for the 

poorest men in Sheffield are to be made in improving outcomes in relation to coronary 

heart disease, suicide and undetermined injury, and other accidents. For the poorest 

women, the top three gains are in improving outcomes in relation to coronary heart 

disease, lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease
128

. 

 
Figure 7: Life expectancy gains 
 

 

 

                                            
127

 Sheffield Health and Illness Prevalence Survey (2002) www.sheffield.nhs.uk/healthdata/resources/shaips2.pdf  

128 Public Health Intelligence Team (Sheffield City Council) based on methodology developed by the Department of Health 

Page 51



 

43 
 

Children’s health 

3.8 There is a wealth of evidence that shows health inequalities start very early on in 

life and then accumulate throughout the life course.
129

 Giving every child the best start in 

life is therefore crucial to reducing health inequalities across the life course. Whilst 

children and young people growing up in Sheffield today are generally healthier than 

ever, there are wide variations across the City. Two examples, infant mortality and 

obesity, are highlighted. 

 

 
 
 
Source: Marmot Report 2010 
 

3.9 Infant mortality  

Sheffield’s infant mortality rate currently stands at 5.2 per 1,000 live and still births (as 

discussed in chapter two). However, there is much variation within the City. Between the 

‘best’ and ‘worst’ wards there is a four-fold difference in infant mortality rates. Although, 

the slope index of inequality shows that inequalities in the infant mortality rate have 

reduced over the last 10 years, the current inequality gap remains large. As noted in 

Chapter 2, there is a strong relationship between infant mortality, deprivation and 

ethnicity
130

. 

 

3.10 The differences in infant mortality are, in large part, reflective of varying maternal 

lifestyle behaviours. For example, the proportion of mothers breastfeeding in Sheffield 

varies significantly with as few as 42% of mothers in some areas breastfeeding compared 

with over 90% in other parts of the City. Similarly, in terms of smoking, there is a seven 

                                            
129 The Marmot Review: 'Fair Society Healthy Lives, UCL Institute of Health Equity, 2010 

130 Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012) – Public Health England 

Figure 8: Accumulation of positive and negative effects of health and 
wellbeing over the life course 

Page 52



 

44 
 

fold difference at Community Assembly level in the proportion of women who are 

smoking ‘at delivery’
131

. Tackling the four fold difference in infant mortality rates 

between the best and worst wards in the City should be a priority. The focus should be 

on changing maternal behaviours in the more deprived areas.  

3.11 Obesity 

For those aged 4-5 years (2009-10 and 2011-12), there is an inequalities gap of 9.5% in 

overweight and obesity prevalence between the most (25.8%) and least (16.2%) deprived 

children in Sheffield. The Slope Index of Inequality pooled over three years shows that 

approximately 82.1% of variation in overweight and obesity prevalence may be explained 

by the level of deprivation.  For children aged 10-11 years (2009-10 and 2011-12), there is 

an inequalities gap of 15.1% overweight and obesity prevalence between the most (41.4%) 

and least (26.3%) deprived in Sheffield. The Slope Index of Inequality for Year 6 data pooled 

over three years shows that approximately 84.9% of variation in overweight and obesity 

prevalence may be explained by deprivation
132

.  Interventions focused on reducing 

childhood obesity must recognise the clear and significant relationship between 

deprivation and obesity 

 

3.12 Looked After Children 

One specific group of children who experience inequalities, and warrant particular 

attention, are Looked After Children. Looked After Children are a priority group in Sheffield 

as Figures 9 and 10 show. Given this evidence, it would seem apparent that Looked After 

Children will continue to require significant support from health, social care and 

educational support services. 

 

 

 

 
                                            
131 Sheffield Infant Mortality Strategy and Delivery Plan. NHS Sheffield (2011) 

132 Public Health Intelligence Team (Sheffield City Council) using data from the National Child Weighing and Measuring 

Programme for Sheffield. 

Figure 9: Percentage of Looked After Children (5-15 years) with a statement of SEN 

Page 53



 

45 
 

Figure 10 A health needs assessment of Looked After Children 
 

 
 

The wider determinants  

3.13 People in the most deprived parts of Sheffield still experience a greater burden of 

ill-health and early death. This demonstrates that inequalities in health and wellbeing are 

linked to inequalities in the wider social, cultural and economic context, also known as 

the wider determinants of health. Whilst we discussed the wider determinants in chapter 

one, we did not analyse the inequalities within these. 

 

3.14 Deprivation within Sheffield - overall Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) 

The IMD is probably the best measure of inequalities in the wider determinants. It is 

made up of seven indices of deprivation that are grouped together and weighted to 

produce the overall index of multiple deprivation. These seven indices cover a number of 

domains, these being: income; employment; health and disability; education, skills and 

training; barriers to housing and services; crime; and living environment. As the map in 

Figure 11 shows, there are clear geographical inequalities in the wider determinants of 

health. The main trends within Sheffield for the IMD measure are that: 

 

• Sheffield has within it great deprivation inequality.  

Page 54



 

46 
 

• Overall the North East and East Community Assemblies stand out as being more 

deprived than the Sheffield average; South West Community Assembly is the least 

deprived.  

• There are pockets of deprivation within non-deprived surroundings. 

• The crude gap in deprivation between best and worst Lower Super Output Areas 

in Sheffield has widened.
133

 

 

 
 

 
 

3.15 Deprivation within Sheffield – Index of Multiple Deprivation domains 

It is also worth breaking the IMD down further to highlight some of the key trends in 

the domains that sit beneath the IMD. In particular:  

• Income: Geographically, most people with lower income deprivation are located to 

the East of the City. 

• Employment: deprivation is highest in the East of the City but there are pockets of 

high deprivation to be found in most parts of Sheffield, with the exception of the 

South West which is generally much less deprived. There is substantial intra-ward 

variation in employment. 

• Educations, skills and training: The South West of Sheffield is much less deprived 

than the East, which has large areas within the worst decile. Education inequalities 

across Sheffield are the most extreme. 

• Barriers to housing and services: There is a distinct lack of extreme deciles for this 

domain. Unlike the other domains, relatively high deprivation is not confined to the 

eastern areas, and low deprivation is not confined to the South West; deprivation is 

more evenly distributed. 

                                            
133 A Lower Super Output Area (LSOA) is a small geographical area that typically contains around 1,600 people (although this 

can vary considerably). There are 339 LSOAs in Sheffield. 

Figure 11: The geography of deprivation in Sheffield 

Page 55



 

47 
 

• Crime: There is a high concentration of relatively high crime in Southey, Firth Park, 

Shiregreen and Brightside wards, and in wards including and surrounding 

Arbourthorne. 

• Living environment: There is a lack of extremes in deprivation for this domain and 

most areas are classed within the average deprivation deciles. Relatively high 

deprivation is concentrated in the Central ward, with levels of deprivation generally 

improving further out from the city centre. In wards outside the city centre, relative 

deprivation is worst in the North East, and as with Barriers to Housing and Services, 

there is also relatively more living environment deprivation in the rural, western 

areas of the City. 

• Deprivation and disability: relatively higher deprivation is more common across the 

City than lower deprivation. There is a relative absence of people within the best 

decile. 

Ultimately, any attempt to tackle health inequalities must tackle the inequalities in the 

wider determinants of health as these are the ‘causes of the causes’ of ill health.  

 

Service access 
3.16 Inequality and unfairness in health can also be due to inequity in access to 

services and inequity in the quality of services available. The inverse care law refers to a 

particular relationship between need for healthcare and actual take up of health 

services
134

 which means that those people who are most in need of health services are 

often least likely to receive or access them.  

3.17 The Fairness Commission received evidence which suggested that particular 

communities in Sheffield, for example BME communities and asylum seekers, could not 

access the health and wellbeing services they needed, potentially delaying or preventing 

the treatment of health problems. In addition, we know that people living in more 

deprived communities are more likely to need emergency hospital admission for health 

problems such as cancer and coronary heart disease than other areas of the City and are 

also more likely to visit Accident and Emergency (A&E). This supports evidence that 

people living in more deprived areas are less likely to report their health concerns, 

delaying early diagnosis and treatment and potentially leading to more serious 

conditions. Paragraph 3.2 also refers to this issue. 

3.18 Ultimately, we do not have good enough data on inequalities in service access 

and usage and this represents an area for further research. In particular, we need to 

establish geographical health spend distribution and map this against geographical 

health outcome if we are to ensure this reflects our aspiration to reduce health 

inequalities. 

                                            
134

 The Inverse Care Law, The Lancet (1: 405–12), 1971. 

Page 56



 

48 
 

3.19 In terms of interventions, there is evidence that suggests those with the best 

health and wellbeing tend to adopt healthier lifestyle behaviours, and that the overall 

health and wellbeing of the population improves as a result. However, those with 

greatest health needs, often living in poverty, with low levels of educational attainment 

and low aspirations, benefit the least. This simply widens inequalities in health and adds 

avoidable pressure on the NHS and all other health and social care services
135

. 

Interventions should be specifically targeted towards those with the greatest health 

needs and this is particularly the case in relation to the nine ‘protected characteristics’ 

covered by the Equality Act (2010). 

3.20 The Equality Act offers protection to the following nine characteristics: age; race; 

sex; gender reassignment status; disability; religion or belief; sexual orientation; marriage 

and civil partnership status; and pregnancy and maternity. The law also protects people 

who are at risk of discrimination by association or perception. This could include, for 

example, a carer who looks after a disabled person. It is important that in the future we 

develop, where reasonably practicable, our joint assessment of need within the context 

of the Equality Act.  

In summary 

3.21 Health inequalities remain a problem for the City.  

3.22 There are large inequalities in life expectancy.  For males, the gap between the 

lowest and highest life expectancy is 8.6 years, whereas for females, the gap is 8.2 

years. These gaps in life expectancy have not remained static. Whilst inequality in life 

expectancy has decreased for males, it has increased for females. 

3.23 Whilst children and young people growing up in Sheffield today are generally 

healthier than ever, there are wide variations. For example, between the most and 

least deprived wards in the City there is a four-fold difference in infant mortality 

rates. Health and wellbeing outcomes for Looked After Children require particular 

attention. 

3.24 Any attempt to tackle health inequalities must tackle the inequalities in the wider 

determinants of health.  

3.25 The people who are most in need of health services are often less likely to receive or 

access them. Ultimately we do not have good enough data on inequalities in this 

regard. In particular we need to establish geographical health spend distribution and 

this against health outcomes if we are to ensure this reflects our aspiration to reduce 

health inequalities. 

  

 
 

                                            
135

  Clustering of unhealthy behaviours over time: Implications for policy and practice, King’s Fund, 2012. 

 

Page 57



 

49 
 

Priorities: 

 
7. Identify geographical health spend: Establish a geographical health expenditure 

distribution and map this against geographical health outcomes. Ensure this reflects 

our aspiration to reduce health inequalities.  

 

8. Develop better measures about health inequalities and ethnicity: We know how 

health varies by area but we do not have good enough data on how health varies by 

ethnicity and this represents a major gap in our understanding.  

 

9. Map assets:  If we are to reduce health inequalities in the City, it is not enough to 

know only about need, we also need to know where our assets lie so that we can 

build on these. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 58



 

50 
 

4 Health, housing, children’s and social care 

services 
This chapter incorporates the two service–focussed Health and Wellbeing Strategy 

outcomes. These are:  
 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy Outcome 4: “People can get health, 

social care, children’s and housing services when they need them, and 

they’re the sort of services they need and feel is right for them” 

 

What does the Health and Wellbeing Strategy say?  “This outcome is about how people 

of all ages should experience health, social care, children’s and housing services in 

Sheffield. This means Sheffield’s health and wellbeing system working better based on 

the needs of people in the City and to support the achievement of outcomes 1, 2, and 3.”  

The key measures that the Health and Wellbeing Board have identified for this outcome 

are:  

- Increased satisfaction with GPs 

- Increased satisfaction with provider services 

- Reduced emergency admissions 

- Improved outcomes for those in need of help and support 

- Maintaining access 

Health and Wellbeing Strategy Outcome 5:  “Services are innovative, 

affordable, and deliver value for money” 

 

What does the Health and Wellbeing Strategy say?  “This outcome is about how 

Sheffield’s commissioners and service providers will deliver health, social care, children’s 

and housing services. As with Outcome 4, this outcome intends to make changes to the 

way the health and wellbeing system works in Sheffield; making it sustainable and 

affordable in the long term.”  

The key measures that the Health and Wellbeing Board have identified for this outcome 

are: 

- Improved sustainability and value for money 

- Increased spend on preventative services 

What is the issue? 

4.1   The City’s population is rising as a result of an increasing birth rate, inward 

migration and people living longer. Over the next 10 to 20 years there will be an 

increase in the number of older people in Sheffield alongside increasing numbers of 

children and working age adults with disabilities and complex needs. We know that 

this population change is likely to place a significant and increasing demand on 

health, social care, children’s and housing resources.  

Page 59



 

51 
 

4.2 In Sheffield we have developed an ‘investment profile’ of the City’s NHS and 

Council budgets using a commissioning landscape model that apportions budgets to 

the following categories: promoting lifelong health and wellbeing; early, short-term 

or one-off interventions designed to promote recovery and independence 

(community based care and acute or specialist care); and medium to long term 

support focused on stability and maintaining quality of life (community based and 

acute/specialist).  This profile indicates that around 80% of all the money invested in 

health and wellbeing services in Sheffield in 2012/13 went into acute hospital care 

and medium to long term care and support services. The growth in our population 

and the current economic situation mean that this balance of investment is 

unsustainable and greater emphasis should be placed on promoting lifelong health 

and wellbeing and recovery and independence. 

4.3  When the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy talks about ‘people getting the help and 

support that they need and feel is right for them’, it is important to focus not only on 

outcomes, but to consider people’s knowledge of, access to and experience of services. 

Currently, these are not all accurately measured but are important and must be given 

greater emphasis.  

 

This chapter focuses on services. We will look at: service demand, GPs, hospitals, social 

care services, children’s services, housing services and voluntary sector services.  

 

What do we know?  

Service demand 

4.4     Sheffield’s changing demographics are central to the planning and delivery of services 

across the City. The 2011 Census revealed that Sheffield has a population of 552,700, 

which represents a 7.7% increase since the 2001 Census
136

. Sheffield’s growing 

population results from an increase in the number of births, higher net inward 

migration and longer life expectancy.  

4.5     Births to Sheffield residents rose from 5,715 in 2001 to 6,916 in 2012, and are 

projected to rise to 7,000 in 2015 and 7,700 in 2020
137

. Although children and young 

people growing up in Sheffield today are generally healthier than ever, there are 

some key trends around obesity and exercise that need attention. In addition, there 

has been almost a 40% increase in the number of children and young people with a 

learning disability over the last 10 years
138

.  Given the increasing number of children 

in the City and the increasing number of children with complex needs and disabilities 

in particular, the investment profile for relevant services should be examined closely.  

 

                                            
136 2011 Census: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 2012 

137 Public Health Births: Office for National Statistics (ONS) – uses 2006 base for projections 

138 Sheffield Case Register (2003 to 2013) 

Page 60



 

52 
 

4.6  Net inward migration has also increased and Sheffield now has a large and growing 

BME population. Not only has there been an increase in the number of people from BME 

backgrounds from almost 9% of the total population 2001 to 16% in 2011
139

, there has also 

been an increase in the number of different BME groups and more than 128 languages are 

now spoken by Sheffield’s school children. Commissioners must consider the specific health 

needs of the City’s large, diverse and growing BME population and ensure that services are 

culturally sensitive.  

 

4.7  Over the last ten years, the City has also experienced an increase in people aged over 65 

years and in particular has experienced almost an 11% increase in people over the age of 85 

years, although it should be noted that this increase is lower than the national trend
140

. This 

increase has translated into increased demands on services, given that older people are major 

users of health and care services. As the graph in Figure 12 highlights, in the case of adult 

social care, service usage increases with age. The commissioning of services must reflect the 

increasing numbers of older people and greater emphasis should therefore be placed on 

prevention and early intervention. 

 

 

Figure 12: Percentage of adult population using adult social care 
 

 

                                            
139 2011 Census: Office for National Statistics (ONS) 2012 

140 2011 Census. Office for National Statistics (ONS) 2012 

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

25%

30%

35%

18-24 25-29 30-34 35-39 40-44 45-49 50-54 55-59 60-64 65-69 70-74 75-79 80-84 85-89 90+

P
e

rc
e

n
ta

g
e

 o
f 

p
o

p
u

la
ti

o
n

 i
n

 a
g

e
 g

ro
u

p
 u

si
n

g
 

A
S

C

Age Group                                                         Source: Care First and ONS

Percentage of adult population using Adult Social Care as at 31st October 2012

Page 61



 

53 
 

4.8   Looking to the future, Sheffield’s population is projected to rise further, with an 

increase of 6.8%, or 38,000 people, between 2011 and 2021
141

.  30% of Sheffield’s 

population increase will be in those aged 65 years and over. There are currently 11,800 

people in the 85+ age group, but by 2020 this will have increased to 15,000 and by 2030 it 

will be around 20,000. Currently around 9,000 people aged 65 years and over (12% of all in 

the City) receive some adult social care support but as the numbers of older people 

increase, there will be increased demand on social care services.  At present, it is estimated 

that nearly 7% of people aged over 65 years are living with some form of dementia, but the 

increases projected in the City’s population means that by 2020 there will be an increase of 

around 1,000 more older people living with dementia and by 2030 there may be an 

additional 3,000 people living with this illness. The growing number of older people and 

the associated increased demand placed on services will present clear challenges to the 

health and wellbeing system.  

4.9   The increase in the number of people with severe or complex needs will be 

particularly marked in children, young people and younger adult age groups. 

Children’s services, particularly those that deal with children with severe or 

complex needs, must explore options for responding to this increasing demand. The 

ethnic profile of the City will also continue to change and local estimates suggest that 

the BME population could grow to around 23% by 2020 assuming that trends in 

arrivals and births remain constant
142

. Services must be culturally sensitive so they 

are accessible and relevant to different communities. 

GPs 

4.10  The GP patient survey
143

 asks patients about their experience of using GP services. 

Some of the key findings in terms of access and experience are highlighted in Table 3. 

 
Table 3: GP access and experience data 
 

 

                                            
141

  ONS Interim 2011 based Population Projections 
142

 Estimates from the Public Health Register (PHR) 
143

 GP Patient Survey, NHS England, 2012. 

Access: Experience:

- 74% found it ‘very’ or ‘fairly’ easy to get 

through to someone at the GP Surgery on the 

phone, although 22% said it was not very or 

not at all easy.

- 87% had ‘very’ or ‘fairly’ good experience of 

their GP Surgery.

- 73% were able to get an appointment or see 

or speak to someone, 13% had to call back 

closer to the day they wanted and 11% not 

able to get an appointment or see/speak to 

someone.

- 93% ‘definitely’ or ‘to some extent’ had trust 

and confidence in their GP

- 76% felt their GP was open at times 

convenient to them, however, 17% felt it was 

not.

- 89% felt GP was ‘very’ good or ‘good’ at 

listening.

- 41% of people did not know how to contact 

an out of hours GP.

- 87% said their GP was ‘very’ good or ‘good’ 

at giving them enough time.

- 33% felt that the out of hours GP service 

took too long.

Data Source: GP Patient Survey

Page 62



 

54 
 

4.11 Anecdotal evidence from our JSNA events echoed that GP experience was good but 

that GPs are not accessible enough, especially for people who work. Problems included not 

being able to get through to the surgery on the telephone, waiting too long for an 

appointment and not being able to see their GP on a weekend. Visiting the Accident and 

Emergency department (A&E) may therefore become the next best option for too many 

people.
144

 There also seemed little understanding of the ‘Out of Hours’ service at our JSNA 

events. Overall, Sheffield scores well in terms of GP user experience, although the time taken 

to see an out of hours GP service appears to be an area of concern. Whilst GP experience 

appears to be good, according to the national GP survey, the local evidence about access 

arrangements should be explored in more depth. 

 4.12 With some exceptions, practices that perform poorly on both clinical outcome 

measures and patient experience are more likely to be located in more deprived areas. We do 

not currently have information on GP user experience by area but this is an issue that 

warrants further investigation. 

 

Hospitals 

 
4.13  Hospital admissions 

The Sheffield rate of 94.6 emergency hospital admissions per 1,000 population 2011/12 is just 

a little over the England average rate of 94.4.  However, there is currently high use of 

children’s emergency care and Sheffield benchmarks very poorly against the national and Core 

City averages for A&E attendances and emergency admissions for the under-fives. For 

example the attendance rate at A&E for children under the age of 5 years has increased in 

Sheffield from 78,961 per 100,000 population in 2008/9 to 80,306 in 2010/11
145

. These rates 

are almost double the national average. We also know that emergency hospital admissions in 

Sheffield are strongly correlated with deprivation, which is reflective of the national picture. 

A&E usage (across all age groups) is nearly double the rate in the more deprived 

neighbourhoods when compared with the least deprived (Figure 13). Whilst Sheffield’s rate of 

emergency hospital admission is only slightly over the national average, the rate of 

emergency hospital admissions and A&E attendances for children is much higher than the 

national average and this should be followed up as a priority. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                            
144

 Sheffield City Council JSNA Event Reports, 2013. 
145 Child, Adolescent and Maternal Health Profile – www.chimat.org.uk 

  

Page 63



 

55 
 

In an audit in Sheffield in 

2010, of a sample of people 

aged over 75 who were 

admitted to hospital in an 

emergency, 49% did not meet 

the criteria for admission and 

could have been managed 

through either Home Care, sub-

acute rehabilitation, a lower 

level of care or managed as an 

outpatient.  
Source: Sheffield Teaching Hospitals Annual 

Report 2011-12.    

Figure13: Relationship between deprivation and emergency hospital 
admissions 

 

 

4.14  Quality measures 

The Dr Foster Report showed that the Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust is 

one of the top performing large acute hospitals in the country and achieves better than 

average survival rates from surgery, low infection rates and high quality care
146

. However, 

there are still some areas of concern. For example, the Trust struggled to meet the four-

hour target to treat, admit or discharge A&E patients over the last two winter periods 

(2011 and 2012), although Sheffield’s performance is reflective of the national picture
147

. 

4.15  Length of stay 

The length of time people stay in hospital in Sheffield is 

perhaps the biggest concern. The average length of stay in 

hospital following an emergency admission in Sheffield is 6.4 

days which is 28% higher than the national average and is the 

joint highest nationally. Unnecessary admission and 

unnecessarily long length of stays are particularly a problem 

for older people.
148

 The length of stay in hospital in Sheffield 

is too high and this is an issue particularly for older people. 

Bringing the length of stay in line with the national average 

must be a priority.   

                                            
146 Fit for the future? The Dr Foster Hospital Guide 2012. Dr Foster, 2012. 

147 Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust data 

148 2012 quality account, Sheffield Primary Care Trust, 2012. 

Page 64



 

56 
 

4.16  Patient experience 

We do not have good data on patient experience and this represents a major gap in our 

knowledge. At our JSNA events however, we heard evidence about excessive costs of TV and 

parking at hospitals; over-use of medical jargon by doctors which was confusing and 

intimidating; and cases of individuals or a family members being shown a basic lack of care. 

The recent Francis Report into the care provided by Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust, 

which concluded that patients were routinely neglected by a Trust that was preoccupied with 

cost cutting, targets and processes, is a warning about the fundamental responsibility hospitals 

have to provide safe care and the consequences when this is overlooked. Patient experience is 

a critical measure of performance and will be of increasing importance in the future. The 

importance of data on patient experience is being 56nalyzing56 and more emphasis should 

be placed on collecting, 56nalyzing and interpreting this.  

  Social care services  

4.17  Social care spend 

As the chart in Figure 14 shows more than half of Sheffield’s adult social care spending is on 

older people (59%), in line with other councils. Overall Sheffield spends slightly more on 

adults with a learning disability and slightly less on adults with a physical disability, 

compared with other councils. As shown previously, the use of adult social care increases 

steadily with age. Increasing numbers of older people, along with the predicted increases in 

children and adults with complex needs will mean increased demand for adult social care 

services. 

 
Figure 14: Percentage of spending on adult social services by client group 

 

 
 

Page 65



 

57 
 

4.18  Waiting times 

Sheffield performs poorly in terms of its adult social care waiting times.  In 2011/12 26% of 

people waited between four weeks and three months and 27% waited over three 

months.
149

 These figures are higher than the Core Cities and the national average. Given 

Sheffield’s longer than average adult social care waiting times, reducing these must be a 

priority.  

 
Figure 15: Adult social care waiting times 
 

 

4.19  Quality of life 

When we asked people who receive social care services about their quality of life, Sheffield’s 

survey results were not quite as good as the national results or the results across similar big 

cities
150

. Whilst about a third of people said their quality of life was ‘ok’, less than half of 

respondents (49%) thought that their quality of life was good, very good or so good it couldn’t 

be better compared with 58% nationally and 54% across similar big cities. 10% felt their 

quality of life was bad and a further 5% said it was either very bad or so bad it couldn’t be 

worse. The self-reported quality of life of people receiving adult social care in Sheffield is 

poor, both in the figures themselves and compared with other parts of the Country. This is 

clearly an area which requires greater attention.  

                                            
149 National Adult Social Care Intelligence Service (part of the National Information Centre for Health and Social Care). 
150 How Did We Do? Adult Social Care Outcomes Survey (2012) – a national survey 

Page 66



 

58 
 

4.20  Control over daily lives 

Similarly, in terms of how much control social care clients felt they had over their daily 

lives, over a third (34%) of respondents felt they had as much control over their daily life 

as they wanted and a further 40% felt they had adequate control. However 19% said 

that they did not have enough control and 6% felt they had no control
151

. In terms of 

how much control users of adult social care had over their daily lives, Sheffield’s results 

are more or less identical to national results and similar big cities. 

4.21  Support to find employment  

Most ‘working age’ adults with ongoing care and support needs would like paid 

employment, but face significant barriers finding and maintaining a job.  The rate of 

employment measures the effectiveness of the City’s supported employment strategies 

and services in helping vulnerable people prepare themselves for employment, find jobs 

and succeed. For those with a learning disability in Sheffield, 5.9% are in paid 

employment compared with 6.6% nationally whereas for those with a mental health 

problem, only 7.7% in Sheffield are in paid work compared with 9.5% nationally
152

.  

Sheffield is doing poorly when it comes to getting working age adults with ongoing 

care and support needs into paid employment and this should be emphasised as an 

area of concern within relevant employment strategies and action plans.   

 4.22 Move to Self Directed Support  

  Sheffield has made significant progress with the personalisation of Adult Social Care.  

Over the last three years there has been a major roll out of Self Directed Support, 

helping as many people as possible who are eligible for care and support to have 

choice and control over the support they receive through Personal Budgets and 

Direct Payments. As at 31 March 2013, 68% of people who use adult social care 

services in Sheffield were receiving a Personal Budget
153

. We should continue to roll 

out Personal Budgets as a key part of our work to make sure we help people 

achieve independence, choice and control.  

 

Children’s services 

4.23  Paediatric Speech and Language Therapy (SLT)  

The Bercow Report on services to children with Speech, Language and Communication 

Needs (SLCN) stated that nationally:  “Although there are some skilled professionals and 

good facilities, the overall position in terms of speech, language and communication 

services is highly unsatisfactory. Access to information and services is often poor, services 

themselves are very mixed, continuity across the age range is lacking, effective joint 

working between the health and education services is rare and there is something of a 

postcode lottery across the country. Above all, local commissioners attach a low priority 

to the subject…this must change”. 

 

                                            
151 How Did We Do? Adult Social Care Outcomes Survey (2012) – a national survey 

152 Public Health Outcomes Framework (2012) – Public Health England 

153 Sheffield City Council – Adult Social Care Service performance data (2012/13) 

Page 67



 

59 
 

4.24  The evidence indicates that this is a fairly accurate description of the current 

position of SLCN services in Sheffield.  Of particular concern is Sheffield’s Speech and 

Language Therapy (SLT) workforce. As the graph in Figure 16 shows, the SLCN workforce 

is significantly smaller than any other regional average and is around 40% smaller than 

the national average.  

 
Figure 16: Speech and language therapy team per 10,000 population 
 

 
 
 

4.25   We also know that the number of children with SLCN has increased, at a faster rate than 

nationally. In 2012, 34.1% of children with a Special Educational Needs (SEN) statement 

had speech, language and communication as a primary need, compared with 29.1% 

nationally
154

.   Given this increase in need and the City’s weak position in relation to the 

gap between the lowest performers and their peers at the end of the Foundation Stage, 

SLT should be addressed as a matter of priority.    

 

4.26 Neonatal care  

Table 4 highlights neonatal activity at the Jessop Wing, part of the Sheffield Teaching 

Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust. The figures for intensive care include a substantial 

amount of activity from other hospitals, but the figures for the other categories will be for 

Sheffield children predominantly.  The increased survival rates of preterm babies have 

been noted in Chapter 2 and as the table shows there has been a clear increase in use of 

neonatal care over time in Sheffield. It is expected that this increase will continue over the 

next 5 to 10 years. Due to the continuing, increasing use of neonatal services, it is crucial 

that this area receives adequate attention. 

 

 
 
 
 
 

                                            
154 Sheffield City Council: Children, Young People and Families performance data. 

Page 68



 

60 
 

Table 4: Neonatal activity (bed days) at the Jessop Wing, Sheffield. 

 

4.27 Childhood and Adolescent Mental Health Service (CAMHS) 

Waiting times in the Childhood and Adolescent Mental Health Service increased 

significantly in the 2010/11 financial year and over a third of children were waiting longer 

than the 18 weeks deadline in the second quarter of 2012-13. Targeted improvement work, 

the deployment of primary mental health workers, and the operation of early intervention 

and prevention services (see paragraph 4.29 below) has largely rectified this problem, but a 

continuing issue is the lack of a clear service offer for 16/17 year olds
155

.  Sheffield’s is the 

only specialist service in the North of England that does not fully provide for children and 

young people up to the age of 18 years. This means that 16/17 years olds are too young to 

qualify for Adult Mental Health Services support but too old for the current CAMHS service. 

Given the lack of mental health support available to 16/17 year olds, integrating this age 

group into CAMHS must be a priority.  

4.28 Children in Need  

The prevalence of Children in Need in Sheffield stood at 288 per 10,000 in 2012, which is 

below the national average of 326. The Sheffield rate has fallen markedly in recent years, from 

a peak of 407 in 2010, which was higher than the national average of 341.  Whilst the Children 

in Need rate has fallen, the number of cases being dealt with by the Multi Agency Support 

Teams (MAST) has risen. 

 
Figure 17: Number of cases being dealt with by the Multi Agency Support Teams 

 

 
 

                                            
155 Sheffield City Council – Children, Young People and Families performance data. 

Year Intensive Care High Dependency Care Special Care Transitional Care Total

2005 2005 1826 5457 369 9657

2006 2943 1892 5072 1485 11392

2007 2541 2088 5894 1919 12442

2008 2774 2126 5767 1660 12327

2009 3317 2515 5320 1793 12945

2010 3737 2790 6396 1728 14651

2011 4407 2786 6481 1551 15225

2012 4288 2806 6809 1693 15595

Data Source: CYPF

Page 69



 

61 
 

There is good evidence that the operation of Sheffield’s early intervention and 

prevention services has had an impact on the number of children and families who 

require a service from statutory social care services and this model of working should 

continue to be supported.    

 

4.29 Children’s social care  

Referrals to Children’s Social Care in Sheffield have been lower than comparable areas but 

higher than the national average since 2008. The proportion of referrals going on to initial 

assessment has been significantly higher in Sheffield than elsewhere since 2009 and this 

coincides with the implementation locally of the Multi-Agency Allocation Meeting (MAAM) 

system.  The Sheffield trend in the rate of children becoming subject to a Child Protection 

Plan (CPP) has run counter to that seen elsewhere over the last 2 years, although the most 

recent data show a rise
156

.   

 
Figure 18: Children subject to a child protection plan 
 

 
 

The high ‘conversion rate’ of cases that are referred to social care to those that receive 

an assessment indicates a good level of multi-agency working and case management at 

the ‘threshold’ between preventative support and statutory intervention. This model of 

working should continue to be supported. 

 

Housing services 

4.30 Homelessness 

Presentations to the homeless service that involve families with children have remained 

steady, at approximately 30% between 2009 and 2011 but there was an increase from 

47% to 58% in homelessness acceptances. The increase in homelessness acceptances 

that involve families with children suggests more families with children are reaching the 

required thresholds for services
157

. 

                                            
156 Sheffield City Council – Children, Young People and Families performance data 

157 Sheffield City Council – Housing Independence Service performance data 

Page 70



 

62 
 

4.31  Housing related support 

Housing related support services deliver preventative and personalised support to a wide 

range of people who are at risk of losing their home or their ability to live independently for 

a variety of reasons. Most adults who require housing related support have multiple needs.  

The ‘Supporting People’ outcomes framework measures 17 potential areas of need which 

individuals might have
158

.  In 2009/10 each service user in housing support services had on 

average 35.9% of the 17 specified needs. There has been a steady increase in the level of 

need that people in services have over the last three years. In particular the areas of need 

that have increased are: managing debt, establishing contact with services, groups, families 

and friends, managing mental health, managing self harm and obtaining and maintaining 

accommodation. The increase in the level of need of people accessing housing related 

support services is a concern
159

. 

4.32 The percentage of service users who leave services in a planned way is an important 

measure of service performance. Since the introduction of Supporting People and its 

quality and monitoring framework there has been a continual increase in performance 

on planned move on. However, this started to decline in 2011-12 when the budget ring 

fence was removed from Supporting People and other external economic factors started 

to impact on service users. The more recent downward trend in ‘planned moved on’ is 

discouraging and it is anticipated that this will continue
160

.  

Figure 19: Planned move on levels in housing related support services 

 

4.33  In terms of demand, a 2013/14 assessment of need for housing related support in 

Sheffield indicates an undersupply of 3,202 units of support across all client groups with 

short term needs of which, 559 are adults with mental health problems and 555 with 

substance misuse problems.
161

. We know that our client base is clustered geographically in 

areas of deprivation and our clients face multiple disadvantages.  A number of trends have 

emerged over the past three years which show the level of need within services increases 

at the same time as public expenditure on housing support is decreasing. Our assumption 

is that need will continue to increase in complexity and extent as the economic pressures 

increase and that this will impact negatively on individuals and high level health, care and 

community safety budgets.   

                                            
158 Supporting People is a national programme helping vulnerable people in England live independently and keep their social housing 

tenancies. It is run by local authorities and provided by the voluntary sector. It was launched on 1 April 2003 

159 HGO Consultancy – Housing Needs Assessment Tool for Sheffield  

160 Sheffield City Council – Housing Independence Service performance data 

161 HGO Consultancy – Housing Needs Assessment Tool for Sheffield 

Page 71



 

63 
 

4.34 Reablement and rehabilitation programmes  

People who have been in hospital sometimes need extra help to prepare them for 

returning home. Reablement and rehabilitation programmes aim to enable people to 

live independently and the success of these services is measured by checking how many 

older people are still living at home 91 days after being discharged from hospital into 

such service. In 2011/12 over 86% of older people (65 years and over) in Sheffield were 

still at home
162

. This is slightly higher than the national average of 82.7%. Although it is 

encouraging that Sheffield is above the national average for helping people to stay 

living at home, emphasis should be placed on continuing this.  

4.35  Admissions to care homes 

Most people want to stay living in their own home for as long as they can and it is far more 

cost effective to provide care in the home than it is for residential care.  In 2012-13, it cost 

£397.48 (gross) per person per week to care for someone in a residential or nursing home 

compared with £137.53 (gross) per person per week to care for someone in their own 

home
163

. We must ensure that people have the support to stay in their own home. Some 

people eventually have to move into a care home but ideally this would be as few as 

possible. If we check how many people are making a permanent move into residential or 

nursing home, it is clear that Sheffield has reduced permanent admissions to residential 

and nursing care at a faster rate than the national average. Whilst Sheffield’s fall in the 

number of permanent admissions to care homes should be commended, further 

emphasis should be placed on this area so as to ensure this trend continues in the future. 

 
Figure 20: The number of permanent admissions to care homes per 100,000 

population 
 
 

 

                                            
162 Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (2012) National Adult  Social Care Intelligence Service, part of the National Health 

& Social Care Information Centre 

163 Sheffield City Council – Adult Social Care Services financial system 

Page 72



 

64 
 

4.36  Joined up services 

There is a need to make better connections between housing and health services. For 

example, the connection between asthma and damp housing is well known but partnerships 

between healthcare and housing services are piecemeal and not well supported. The growth 

of  poor quality private rented sector housing in some areas of the City also creates a 

pressing need to improve this relationship and the City’s Fairness Commission have also 

commented on this issue. Stronger joint working between housing and health services 

should be encouraged to support improving health and wellbeing.  

 

       Changing services 

4.37  As The King’s Fund research shows, services have struggled to keep pace with 

demographic pressures, the changing burden of disease, and rising patient and public 

expectations. Fundamental change to the delivery system is needed. Changes to existing 

models of care will not be sufficient in addressing these challenges; a much bolder approach 

is needed. Here we provide some evidence to highlight why and how services need to 

change. 

4.38  Avoidable or inappropriate use of high end or ‘acute’ services 

Overall, there is clear evidence that avoidable or inappropriate use of high end or ‘acute’ 

services (such as avoidable hospital admission) leads to poorer outcomes for people and 

higher levels of dependency. For example, older people with dementia face more chance of 

living in a care home following a stay in hospital, rather than returning to their own homes. 

Voice evidence from one of our JSNA events suggested that people generally agreed that 

there was a need to reduce reliance and spending on hospitals, but that the increased spend 

in prevention, early intervention and community services must come before any reductions 

in hospital spend. Avoidable usage of acute services is not only bad for the patient, but is an 

expensive and inefficient use of resources.  

4.39  Prevention and early intervention 

The King’s Fund has shown that too much care is still provided in hospitals and care homes, 

and that treatment services continue to receive higher priority than prevention. It is well 

known that hospitals are under pressure from the rising numbers of A&E attendances and 

emergency admissions and a greater emphasis on prevention and early intervention is 

needed.
164

 Trying to prevent problems from arising and intervening early is much better 

than the traditional reactive approach and more schemes that emphasise prevention and 

early action are needed.  

4.40 Joined up working 

Lack of integration with social care and community services is contributing to the pressure on 

NHS hospitals. The traditional dividing lines between GPs and hospital-based specialists, 

hospital and community-based services, and mental and physical health services, mean that 

care is often fragmented and integrated care is the exception rather than the rule. One 

example of positive working is Sheffield’s ‘Right First Time’ programme
165

. 

                                            
164 Dr Foster Report, 2012 

165 Right First Time – Working together to transform Sheffield’s health and social care service. www.sheffieldccg.nhs.uk RFT is 

designed to reduce avoidable hospital admission, length of stay and use of residential care by promoting healthier lives, and supporting 

people in their local community by joined up, high quality, responsive, health and social care services and by supporting nonpaid carers. 

Page 73



 

65 
 

4.41 Community working 

Workers based in the community often have a detailed knowledge of that community and 

can provide appropriate, local support.  There is good evidence in Sheffield of the 

effectiveness of such schemes and the ‘Healthy Communities’ Programme is one such 

example
166

. 

4.42 At our JSNA events voluntary sector organisations told us that cuts in funding meant 

their capacity to respond to problems was increasingly limited and that demand was 

beginning to outstrip supply. Rather than being overly critical, many organisations 

understood the difficult environment in which the public sector was currently operating in, 

but felt more could be done to facilitate knowledge sharing and forging closer links between 

organisations. While the NHS implements the current reforms, it will be important to ensure 

that community-based work can flourish. Whilst this is likely to present some challenges, it is 

important that the invaluable contribution made by local voluntary sector organisations is 

not forgotten.  Despite the current economic constraints, dedicated commitment, time and 

resource should be made available to support the local voluntary sector.  

In summary  

4.43 Around 80% of all the money invested in health and wellbeing services in Sheffield is in 

acute hospital services, and in medium to long term care and support services.  The growth 

in our population and the current economic situation mean this is unsustainable.  

4.44 We have little data in Sheffield on people’s knowledge of and access to health 

services, and have only limited data on experience. It is crucial that more emphasis is 

placed on collecting, analysing and interpreting experience data. 

4.45 Whilst the level of emergency hospital admissions in Sheffield is broadly in line with 

the national and regional averages, the average length of stay in hospital following an 

emergency admission in Sheffield is 28% higher than the national average and the joint 

highest nationally.  

4.46 Sheffield has longer times for social care assessments than the national average, 

performs poorly in terms of the self-reported quality of life of people receiving adult social 

care, and its record on helping working age adults with on-going care and support needs 

into paid employment is weak. 

4.47 Services for children with speech, language and communication needs, new-borns, 

and 16/17 year olds with mental health needs require attention and particular 

consideration should be given to the ability of services in the City to meet the needs of 

these three groups.  

4.48 Sheffield is just above the national average for helping people to stay living at home 

but has reduced permanent admissions to residential and nursing care homes at a faster 

rate than the national average.  

                                            
166 http://www.sheffield.gov.uk/SCC-Home/caresupport/health/healthy-communities   

Page 74



 

66 
 

4.49 Trying to prevent problems from arising and intervening early is much better than the 

traditional reactive approach and more schemes that emphasise prevention and early 

action are needed.  Health care needs to be better integrated with social and community 

care if we are to reduce dependency on hospitals and provide higher quality care. 

4.50 While the NHS implements the current reforms, it will be important to ensure that 

community-based work can flourish and dedicated commitment, time and resource should 

be made available to support the Voluntary, Community and Faith sector. 

  

Priorities 

10. Service access and experience: Greater emphasis must be placed on collecting, 

analysing and interpreting service access and experience data. Without this, it is 

impossible to measure the extent to which “people get the help and support they 

need and is right for them”. 

 

11. Changing demand: The growth and changes in our population and balance of our 

investment profile means that the current service model is unsustainable. We 

must therefore find new ways of responding to need which places a premium on 

prevention, early intervention, integrated working and care in the community. 

Although there is a move to do this, there is still a long way to go. 

 

12. Spending cuts: Cuts to the NHS, local government and the voluntary sector 

cannot be overlooked and are beginning to impact on service provision. It is 

important to question how realistic the outcomes of the Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy are in light of these funding changes.  

Page 75



 

67 
 

5 Next steps 
 

The evidence base for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy 
This Joint Strategic Needs Assessment document presents an overview of health and 

wellbeing needs in Sheffield. It attempts to set out our assessment of the key health and 

wellbeing priorities for the City and the actions that will be required to help us respond to 

these over the coming years.  This document, together with the more detailed assessments 

and data that underpin it, provides the evidence base for the City’s Joint Health and 

Wellbeing Strategy. This evidence, together with the public consultation that is currently 

taking place, will be used to prepare and agree the final version of the strategy in 

September 2013. 

 

An evolving document 

The JSNA is not, nor should be, a static document.  We will be constantly reviewing health 

and wellbeing issues in the City and updating our JSNA to reflect major changes.  For 

example, we have already identified a number of areas in which we will undertake more 

comprehensive needs assessments and areas where there are gaps in our information. This 

includes: autism, children with complex needs, neurological conditions, speech and 

language in children, sensory impairment, mental ill health, and care homes.  If the JSNA is 

to be of real use, it must be kept up to date. We will work hard to ensure that this is the 

case and will be developing a programme of work for the next 12-18 months to help us 

meet these requirements. Details will be published on our website at: 

www.sheffield.gov.uk/jsna 

 

A comprehensive online information resource  
The JSNA is not intended to be an exhaustive list of need in the City. Instead it highlights 

what we have found to be the key issues. The data that we have used to produce this JSNA, 

as well as some of the information that we hold but may not have been able to include 

here, will be held in our JSNA online information resource. This will bring together in one 

place all of the intelligence that we have on health and wellbeing in Sheffield and will make 

gathering and sharing data much easier. Although this is a longer term ambition, it is one 

which we are committed to fulfilling. 

 

Regular updates 
We will publish updates on the JSNA on our website at: www.sheffield.gov.uk/jsna  and 

through the Health and Wellbeing Board’s monthly e-bulletin ‘The Pulse’. If you would like 

to be added to the mailing list for The Pulse, please contact: 

healthandwellbeingboard@sheffield.gov.uk  

 

Acknowledgements 
Many people have helped us with various parts of the JSNA.  In particular we would like to 

thank all those who contributed to our JSNA events and acknowledge the following 

organisations for their assistance: 

 

Abbeydale Community Trust, Abbeydale Grange Community Support, Activity Sheffield, 

Affinity Trust, Alzheimer's Society, Asian Old People Caring Society, AstralPS, CAMHS, 

Cathedral Archer Project, Darnall Wellbeing, Deaf Advice Service, Sheffield East End Quality 

Page 76



 

68 
 

of Life Initiative, Expert Elders, Heeley City Farm, Hesley Group, Home Care Direct, Home 

Start Sheffield, Homegroup, Housing 21, Huntington’s Disease Association, ISRACC, Jubilee 

Food Bank, Learn to Re-create, Leonard Cheshire Disability, LinK, Lloyds Pharmacy, 

Macmillan Cancer Support, Manor and Castle Development Trust, Mercury Create, 

Metropolitan Care & Support Motor Neurone Disease Association, MS Society, Neighbours 

can help Ltd, NHS Sheffield, Partners for Inclusion, Places for People, SAFE@LAST, 

Safeguarding Children’s Service, Sanctuary Housing, Sheffield City Council, Share 

Psychotherapy, Sharrow Sure Start, Sheffield 50+, Sheffield Alcohol Support Service, 

Sheffield Carers Centre, Sheffield Children’s NHS, Sheffield International Venues, Sheffield 

First Partnership, Sheffield Hallam University, Sheffield Health & Social Care Trust, Sheffield 

Homes, Sheffield Local Pharmaceutical Committee, Sheffield Mind, ,Sheffield Parent Carer 

Forum, Sheffield Rape and Sexual Abuse Counselling Service, Sheffield Royal Society of the 

Blind, Sheffield Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, SOAR, South Yorkshire Fire and 

Rescue, South Yorkshire Housing Association, South Yorkshire Probation Trust, Special 

Olympics Sheffield, SSCAT Foundation, Stocksbridge Community Health Forum, Stroke 

Association, Survivors of Depression, SYHA, TARA, Tourettes Action, University of Sheffield, 

the Wildlife Trust for Sheffield & Rotherham, and Zest. 

 

Any questions? 
If you have any questions concerning this document, please contact us at the following 

email address: SheffieldJSNA@sheffield.gov.uk    

 

Page 77



Page 78

This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Report of: Julie Dore, Leader of Sheffield City Council and Co-Chair of the 

Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date:    27 June 2013 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Subject: Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board Response to the Fairness 

Commission 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Author of Report:  Louisa Willoughby, Commissioning Officer 
    0114 205 7143 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Summary:  
� The Fairness Commission was set up by Sheffield City Council with an independent 

chair to “make a non-partisan strategic assessment of the nature, extent, causes and 
impact of inequalities in the City and to make recommendations for tackling them.” 

� The Fairness Commission report was published on 30th January 2013 and included 
both principles as part of the Sheffield Fairness Framework as well as a range of 
recommendations. 

� Four recommendations were directed specifically at the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
with many other recommendations having relevance for the Board. 

� This report recommends ways in which the Health and Wellbeing Board in Sheffield can 
support the work of the Fairness Commission and seek to bring about fairness in all its 
areas of work. 

________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Questions for the Health and Wellbeing Board: 
� Do Board members have any specific views or perspectives on the four 

recommendations that relate specifically to the Board’s role? 
 
Recommendations: 
� That the Fairness Commission principles are endorsed in full by Sheffield’s Health and 

Wellbeing Board, and that Health and Wellbeing Board members commit, if they have 
not done so already as part of their respective organisations, to supporting and 
promoting fairness across Sheffield. 

SHEFFIELD HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

BOARD PAPER 

Agenda Item 5

Page 79



2 
 

� That the Health and Wellbeing Board supports the actions detailed in section 3.3 
which pertain to specific Fairness Commission recommendations for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

� That the Health and Wellbeing Board supports the actions detailed in section 3.4 
which suggest ways the Health and Wellbeing Board can support recommendations 
not directly aimed at the Board. 

� That the Health and Wellbeing Board undertakes to discuss further the respective 
responses of Sheffield City Council and NHS Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group. 

 
Reasons for Recommendations: 
� The Fairness Commission is an important city-wide commission that received a vast 

range of information about fairness across the city. Both NHS Sheffield Clinical 
Commissioning Group and Sheffield City Council have signed up to the principles of 
the Fairness Commission, and it is important that the Health and Wellbeing Board, as 
a system leader for health and wellbeing in Sheffield, supports the principles and 
recommendations of the Commission. 

� Four of the recommendations in the Fairness Commission’s report are directed 
specifically at the Health and Wellbeing Board. It is important, therefore, that the 
Board provides a public response to the recommendations and works to bring about 
fairness across Sheffield. 

 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
 
Background Papers:  
� The full Fairness Commission report: www.sheffield.gov.uk/fairnesscommission. 
 

   

Page 80



3 
 

SHEFFIELD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD RESPONSE TO THE 
FAIRNESS COMMISSION 
 
1.0 SUMMARY 

 
1.1 The Fairness Commission was set up by Sheffield City Council with an independent 

chair to “make a non-partisan strategic assessment of the nature, extent, causes and 
impact of inequalities in the City and to make recommendations for tackling them.” 

1.2 The Fairness Commission report was published on 30th January 2013 and included 
both principles as part of the Sheffield Fairness Framework as well as a range of 
recommendations. 

1.3 Four recommendations were directed specifically at the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
with many other recommendations having relevance for the Board. 

1.4 This report recommends ways in which the Health and Wellbeing Board in Sheffield 
can support the work of the Fairness Commission and seek to bring about fairness in 
all its areas of work. 

 
 
2.0 WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR SHEFFIELD PEOPLE? 

 
2.1 Sheffield people deserve a free and fair society, and the Fairness Commission was 

set up with the ambition of making Sheffield the fairest city in the United Kingdom. As 
the system leader in health and wellbeing in Sheffield, the Health and Wellbeing 
Board has a crucial role to play in bringing about fairness in the city. By supporting 
the work of the Fairness Commission, the Health and Wellbeing Board will work to 
bring about long-term positive outcomes for the people of Sheffield. This is supported 
by the Board’s Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy which seeks to bring about a 
healthy and successful city. 

 
 
3.0 MAIN BODY OF THE REPORT 

 
3.1 Background to the Fairness Commission 

 
3.1.1 The Fairness Commission was set up by Sheffield City Council with an independent 

chair to “make a non-partisan strategic assessment of the nature, extent, causes and 
impact of inequalities in the City and to make recommendations for tackling them.” 

3.1.2 The Fairness Commission report was published on 30th January 2013. There are two 
key aspects to implementing the report: 
� The Sheffield Fairness Framework: The report says that the Sheffield 

approach to fairness should be governed by ten principles. They are intended 
as guidelines for policy makers and citizens, now and in the future, a 
framework within which the city can gradually be made a fairer one. 

� Recommendations: The Commission made recommendations covering 27 
issues. The recommendations are both deliberately aspirational – setting out 
a clear vision for the city across each of the Commission’s themes – and 
diverse in nature.  

3.1.3 The Sheffield Executive Board has agreed that it will oversee progress in achieving 
the goals to make Sheffield a fairer city and integrate the annual progress report in to 
the State of Sheffield report. 

3.1.4 Alan Walker, the Chair of the Fairness Commission, wrote to the main agencies in 
the city asking them to identify how they can and will implement and embed the 
recommendations in their organisations. 

Page 81



4 
 

3.1.5 Both NHS Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group and Sheffield City Council are 
submitting formal responses to Alan Walker’s request. As the overarching system 
leader for health and wellbeing in Sheffield, these responses are of core interest for 
the Health and Wellbeing Board. Moreover, some of the Fairness Commission’s 
recommendations are directed specifically at the Health and Wellbeing Board. 

 
 
3.2 Principles of the Sheffield approach to fairness 
 
3.2.1 The following ten principles were set out in the Fairness Commission’s report (more 

detail is provided on pages 34-35 of the full report): 
 

1. Those in greatest need should take priority. 
2. Those with the most resources should make the biggest contributions. 
3. The commitment to fairness must be for the long-term. 
4. The commitment to fairness must be across the whole city. 
5. Preventing inequalities is better than trying to cure them. 
6. To be seen to act in a fair way as well as acting fairly. 
7. Civic responsibility - all residents to contribute to making the city fairer and 

for all citizens to have a say in how the city works. 
8. An open continuous campaign for fairness in the city. 
9. Fairness must be a matter of balance between different groups, communities 

and generations in the city. 
10. The city’s commitment to fairness must be both demonstrated and monitored 

in an annual report. 

 
3.2.2 Many of these principles are already supported by existing work of the Health and 

Wellbeing Board or form part of the Board’s work plan for 2013-14. For example: 
� Outcome 3 of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is entitled ‘Health 

Inequalities are Reducing.’ Tackling health inequalities is a clear public health 
concern for the city, and the revised Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (due 
September 2013) will have a series of actions and indicators that will seek to 
bring about progress in this area. 

� The Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy is clear in its emphasis on long-term 
prevention and early intervention, focussing on individuals’ early and future 
needs not just on cures. 

� The consultation and events held so far in 2013 surrounding the production of 
the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment and Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy have tried to garner the opinion of a range of different groups, 
communities and generations in the city. 

3.2.3 It is recommended that these principles are endorsed in full by Sheffield’s Health and 
Wellbeing Board, and that Health and Wellbeing Board members commit, if they 
have not done so already as part of their respective organisations, to supporting and 
promoting fairness across Sheffield. 

 
 
3.3 Fairness Commission recommendations specifically related to the Health and 

Wellbeing Board 
 

3.3.1 A few of the Fairness Commission recommendations had specific asks of the Health 
and Wellbeing Board. These are included in the table below along with suggestions 
about how the Board might fulfil the recommendation. 

 
 

Page 82



5 
 

 
 Recommendation Suggested Health and Wellbeing Board Action 

1. Health and Wellbeing 
Board members must fully 
utilise their individual and 
collective position, 
influence and resources, 
including: 
� Addressing the wider 

determinants of health. 
� Challenging 

Government and 
partners in the city 
(e.g. employers) to 
contribute to a holistic 
approach to wellbeing 
and stand up for the 
city’s health needs. 

� Health and Wellbeing Board to continue to support the 
emphasis of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy on 
the wider determinants of health, especially outcome 1 
(‘Sheffield is a healthy and successful city’), and the work 
programmes which look beyond typical health issues, for 
example the ‘Health and Employment’ work programme. 

� Health and Wellbeing Board to continue to support its 
ongoing communications plan, which aims to 
communicate, engage with and influence many different 
organisations and individuals across the city and 
nationally about the importance of health and wellbeing 
for all people, organisations and sectors. 

� Health and Wellbeing Board to resolve to lobby 
Government and key city-wide partners where 
appropriate to stand up for what is best for Sheffield 
people. Health and Wellbeing Board to pursue the links 
with NHS England through its specific representation on 
the Board. 

� Health and Wellbeing Board simultaneously to invite 
Government and key city-wide partners to actively 
consider the Board’s role as a system leader in Sheffield 
and asks such partners to approach the Board if there are 
ways in which they see the Board as assisting in their 
work to improve health and wellbeing in the city. 

� While the Health and Wellbeing Board does recognise, 
particularly through its Joint Strategic Needs Assessment, 
the unavoidable impact of the budget cuts on the wider 
determinants of health, the Board nonetheless to resolve 
to work to mitigate these where it can and to address the 
wider determinants of health through efficient and 
effective commissioning. 

2.  Health and Wellbeing 
Board members must use 
the Joint Strategic Needs 
Assessment to better 
understand the equity of 
the health spend in 
Sheffield. 

� Health and Wellbeing Board to commission a specific 
analysis of the equity of health spend in the city. 

3. Health and Wellbeing 
Board partners from the 
Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Sheffield City 
Council must ensure that 
health spending in the city 
is more fairly utilised. 

� See above. Once the analysis of the equity of health 
spend in the city is complete, Health and Wellbeing Board 
to oversee the fair utilisation of health spend in the city. 

4. Health and Wellbeing 
Board should play a 
stronger, leading role in 
addressing the wellbeing 
issues associated with 
work. 

� The ‘Health and Employment’ work programme of the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy builds on and 
supports the city’s Work and Health Plan. The Health and 
Wellbeing Board to support this work and receive annual 
reports back about its progress as well as any other ad 
hoc reports as appropriate. 

� NHS Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group and 
Sheffield City Council to promote wellbeing in their 
workforce, which would include supporting carers to be at 
work. 

 

Page 83



6 
 

3.3.2 It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board supports all of the 
suggested actions detailed in the table above. 

 
 

3.4 Fairness Commission recommendations that the Health and Wellbeing Board 
can influence 

 
3.4.1 While there are only four recommendations directed specifically at the Health and 

Wellbeing Board, there are several areas that the Health and Wellbeing Board could 
work to influence. The table below is not definitive with regards to the Health and 
Wellbeing Board’s potential role (particularly as the work of NHS Sheffield Clinical 
Commissioning Group and Sheffield City Council covers a number of areas), but it 
pertains to the most relevant recommendations where the Health and Wellbeing 
Board might be able to play a specific role. 

 
 Recommendation Suggested Health and Wellbeing Board Action 

1. � NHS and SCC 
Prevent health and 
wellbeing problems 
from occurring.  

� Initiatives addressing 
the wider 
determinants of 
health. 

� Removing barriers to 
health services which 
are disproportionally 
experienced by some 
communities. 

� Seek assurance when receiving commissioning plans from 
NHS England, NHS Sheffield CCG and Sheffield City 
Council that the plans address these issues. 

2.  � Promote women's 
health in general, 
pre-pregnancy, in 
pregnancy and after 
giving birth. 

� Support the ‘Good Start in Life’ work programme of the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

3. �  Increase in primary 
and community care. 

� Support the ‘Supporting People At or Closer to Home’ work 
programme of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

4. � Health, care and 
public health services 
are of a consistent, 
high quality services 
across all areas of 
the city. 

� Support this as part of actions related to outcome 5 of the 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy: ‘Services are 
innovative, affordable, and provide good value for money’. 

� Healthwatch member of the Health and Wellbeing Board to 
feed in service user and citizen experience to continue to 
improve services across all areas of the city. 

5. � Recommendations 
related to Mental 
Health and 
Wellbeing. 

� Support all recommendations on mental health and 
wellbeing through the ‘Building Mental Health, Wellbeing 
and Emotional Resilience’ work programme of the Joint 
Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

6. � Recommendations 
related to carers. 

� NHS Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group and Sheffield 
City Council to seek to be supportive employers of carers. 

� Support effective commissioning across the peace with 
regard to young carers, respite care, ‘hidden carers’, and 
so on. 

� Commit to jointly reviewing the current carers’ strategy and 
identifying clear actions for the partners. 

7. � Recommendations 
related to good 
quality jobs. 

� Support the ‘Health and Employment’ work programme as 
part of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, including 
its work with the Core Cities. 

8. � Recommendations � Work to discuss with Government the health and wellbeing 

Page 84



7 
 

 Recommendation Suggested Health and Wellbeing Board Action 

related to social 
security. 

impacts of its social security and welfare policies. 
� Support the ‘Health and Employment’ work programme as 

part of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, including 
its work with the Core Cities. 

9. � Recommendations 
related to support 
and advice. 

� As well as supporting general and specialist advice, the 
Health and Wellbeing Board will work with Healthwatch and 
VoiceAbility’s NHS Complaints Advocacy Service to ensure 
that the voice of the service user and citizen is heard and 
responded to in matters of health and wellbeing. 
Healthwatch’s role includes being at the centre of a 
‘network of networks’ which may include being part of a 
network of general and specialist advice services. 

10. � Recommendations 
related to food. 

� Support the ‘Food and Physical Activity’ work programme 
as part of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

11. � Recommendations 
related to early years. 

� Support the ‘A Good Start in Life’ work programme as part 
of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy. 

12. � Citizen involvement 
in public services – 
apply a co-production 
approach more 
widely. 

� Since its inception the Health and Wellbeing Board has 
sought to communicate clearly and transparently about 
what it does. Its JSNA and launch events invited a range of 
people to talk about different issues and identify needs, and 
its current (June 2013) consultation on the Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy is reaching a wide variety of different 
groups. The Health and Wellbeing Board to continue with 
its open and engaging approach. 

 
3.4.2 It is recommended that the Health and Wellbeing Board supports all of the 

suggested actions detailed in the table above. 
 
3.5 Legal and financial implications 
 
3.5.1 There are no specific legal or financial implications of approving the 

recommendations outlined in this report, other than ones already approved. 
 

 
4.0 QUESTIONS FOR THE BOARD 

 
4.1 Do Board members have any specific views or perspectives on the four 

recommendations that relate specifically to the Board’s role (see section 3.3 of this 
report): 
� Health and Wellbeing Board members must fully utilise their individual 

and collective position, influence and resources, including: 
o Addressing the wider determinants of health. 
o Challenging Government and partners in the city (e.g. 

employers) to contribute to a holistic approach to wellbeing and 
stand up for the city’s health needs. 

� Health and Wellbeing Board members must use the Joint Strategic 
Needs Assessment to better understand the equity of the health spend 
in Sheffield. 

� Health and Wellbeing Board partners from the Clinical Commissioning 
Group and Sheffield City Council must ensure that health spending in 
the city is more fairly utilised. 

� Health and Wellbeing Board should play a stronger, leading role in 
addressing the wellbeing issues associated with work. 

 
 

Page 85



8 
 

 
5.0 RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
5.1 That the Fairness Commission principles are endorsed in full by Sheffield’s Health 

and Wellbeing Board, and that Health and Wellbeing Board members commit, if they 
have not done so already as part of their respective organisations, to supporting and 
promoting fairness across Sheffield. 

5.2 That the Health and Wellbeing Board supports the actions detailed in section 3.3 
which pertain to specific Fairness Commission recommendations for the Health and 
Wellbeing Board. 

5.3 That the Health and Wellbeing Board supports the actions detailed in section 3.4 
which suggest ways the Health and Wellbeing Board can support recommendations 
not directly aimed at the Board. 

5.4 That the Health and Wellbeing Board undertakes to discuss further the respective 
responses of Sheffield City Council and NHS Sheffield Clinical Commissioning 
Group. 
 

 
6.0 REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 

 
6.1 The Fairness Commission is an important city-wide commission that received a vast 

range of information about fairness across the city. Both NHS Sheffield Clinical 
Commissioning Group and Sheffield City Council have signed up to the principles of 
the Fairness Commission, and it is important that the Health and Wellbeing Board, 
as a system leader for health and wellbeing in Sheffield, supports the principles and 
recommendations of the Commission. 

6.2 Four of the recommendations in the Fairness Commission’s report are directed 
specifically at the Health and Wellbeing Board. It is important, therefore, that the 
Board provides a public response to the recommendations and works to bring about 
fairness across Sheffield. 

 
 

Page 86



 1

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Report of: Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group 
Tim Furness – Director of Business Planning and Partnership 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

Date:   27 June 2013 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

Subject: Quality in the New Health System – a review of recommendations from 
recent national reviews and the implications for Sheffield Clinical 
Commissioning Group  

__________________________________________________________________________ 

Author of Report: Kevin Clifford - Chief Nurse 

   0114 305 1191 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

Summary:  
 

This paper provides an update from the first Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) report in 
March 2013 relating to the Francis (2) report.  The report provides: 

� A review of those recommendations from the report that have implications for 
commissioners and an assessment of any actions to take forward by CCG 

� A summary of the Government response to the report and implications for the CCG 

� In addition, an overview of the National Nursing Strategy – ‘Compassion in Practice’ 
implementation plan is provided and local actions from the CQC Winterbourne View 
recommendations. 

� An action plan and final CCG response will be developed following the Government final 
response in September 2013. 

_________________________________________________________________________ 

Recommendation for the Health and Wellbeing Board 

� Consider the recommendations of all four reports. 

� Note the current actions for commissioners to take forward the Francis (2) 
recommendations and the current position. 

SHEFFIELD HEALTH AND WELLBEING 

BOARD PAPER 

Agenda Item 6

Page 87



 2

� Support the development of a Commissioning for Quality Strategy for Sheffield CCG. 

Reasons for Recommendations: 
To ensure that the Clinical Commissioning Group is commissioning and implementing 
national recommendations in relation to safe and effective health care. 

_________________________________________________________________________ 

Background Papers:  
 

� Mid Staffordshire NHS Foundation Trust Public Inquiry, 6th February 2013, 
http://www.midstaffspublicinquiry.com/report  

� Compassion in Practice Nursing Midwifery and Care Staff - Our Vision and Strategy, 
December 2012, 

http://www.england.nhs.uk/wp-content/uploads/2012/12/compassion-in-practice.pdf  

� Transforming Care – A National Response to Winterbourne View Hospital, 28th March 
2013, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/127310/fin
al-report.pdf.pdf  

 

   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 88



 3

 

 

 

Quality in the New Health System 

Implications for Commissioners from National Reviews of Quality 

31 May 2013 

 

1. REPORT SUMMARY 

This paper provides an update from the first Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) 
report in March 2013 relating to the second Francis report.  The report provides: 

� A review of those recommendations from the report that have implications for 
commissioners and an assessment of any actions to take forward by the CCG 

� A summary of the Government response to the report and implications for the CCG 

� In addition, an overview of the National Nursing Strategy – ‘Compassion in Practice’ 
implementation plan is provided and local actions from the CQC Winterbourne View 
recommendations. 

� An action plan and final CCG response will be developed following the Government final 
response in September 2013. 

 

2. WHAT DOES THIS MEAN FOR SHEFFIELD PEOPLE? 

The publication of two national reviews of failing Hospitals and subsequent government and 
nursing responses will require a range of organisations to review their internal processes in 
relation to the recommendations of these reports.  This is to ensure the people of Sheffield 
are provided with high quality, safe and effective services. 

 

3.  INTRODUCTION 

Previously, a summary of the Robert Francis second enquiry was provided to Governing 
Body in March and this paper provides further information as follows: 

� A review of those recommendations from the Francis (2) report that have implications for 
the commissioners and an assessment of further actions to take forward by the CCG. 

� A summary of the initial Government response to the Francis (2) report ‘Patients First and 
Foremost’ and implications for the CCG. 

� An overview of the national Nursing strategy, Compassion in Practice implementation 
plan and implications for the CCG. 

� Local actions required as a result of the CQC Winterbourne View recommendations. 

With the exception of Winterbourne View, all recommendations from the above reports have 
arisen from the Mid Staffordshire Hospital review and there is significant overlap from each 
in terms of actions required.  Although the paper provides a general update on actions 
required nationally, there is a specific focus of this paper on the Francis (2) report 
recommendations for commissioners. 

 

Page 89



 4

4.  RECOMMENDATIONS FROM FRANCIS (2) FOR COMMISSIONERS 
An assessment has been undertaken of the 290 recommendations and those that are 
directly applicable for action by CCG’s are identified at Appendix A.  A review of the current 
status for the CCG is provided and suggestions have been made regarding actions to take 
forward – those actions rated amber/red.  The recommendations with no RAG rating 
indicates that actions need to be taken at a national level before the CCG can consider any 
actions. 

The remaining recommendations from the report are applicable for action by providers or 
other organisations. 

 

5.  GOVERNMENT INITIAL RESPONSE TO THE FRANCIS (2) REPORT 
The Government responded to the report in March 2013 and measures are described in 
relation to radical transparency, excellence in leadership, clarity of accountability, 
consequences for failure and rewards for the best in an attempt to revitalise the culture of the 
NHS to be focused around the needs of the patients. The final report and recommendations 
is due September 2013. 

The response is set out in five areas of action as follows:  

 
5.1 Preventing Problems 

� The NHS Constitution will be updated. 

� The Leadership Academy will update guidance for ‘Effective Trust Boards’ to ensure 
there is culture change in the NHS. 

� The NHS Outcomes framework will be used to hold NHS England to account and ensure 
there is commissioning for outcomes rather than targets and processes. 
Sheffield CG has reviewed the quality and performance reporting process to ensure it is 
structured around the outcomes framework.   

� The NHS Confederation will review paperwork, regulation and reporting with a report due 
by the by September 2013, aiming to reduce the burden by a third. 

� There will be a single national portal for collecting information – the Health and Social 
Care Information Centre. 

� Professor Don Berwick is now working with NHS England leading a Patient Safety 
Advisory Group to ensure safety and a zero tolerance of avoidable harm is embedded in 
the NHS.  
The CCG will work with providers and ensure they deliver the actions following this 
review. 

 

5.2 Detecting Problems Quickly  

� The Care Quality Commission will appoint a Chief Inspector of Hospitals later this year 
to enable the CQC to become not just a regulator but an inspector of quality. Ratings will 
be used similar to those used by OFSTED. 

� Quality Surveillance Groups (QSG) will bring together all relevant organisations to share 
information and intelligence about quality. 

� The CCG now participates in the S Y & H Area Team QSG. 

� Local Authority Commissioners of care are leading the drive to improve the quality of 
care via the ‘Towards Excellence in Adult Social Care Programme’. 

Page 90



 5

� The Duty of Candour is now in 2013/14 national Standard Contracts – to be open and 
honest with patients when things go wrong, with penalties for breaching the duty. 

� An independent review is being undertaken on complaints based on Francis 
recommendations and will be reported in the summer 2013. 

 

5.3 Taking action promptly 

� The Care Quality Commission, working with the National Institute for Health and Clinical 
Excellence (NICE), commissioners, patients and the public, will draw up a new set of 
simpler, fundamental standards which make explicit the basic minimum standard of 
care. 

� The CCG will be responsible for ensuring that all providers comply with these standards 
and that remedial action is taken if there is non-compliance. 

� Regulators will work closer together and with commissioners to drive up standards of care 

� Relationships with the CQC need to be re-established. 

� A new time-limited three stage failure regime, encompassing not just finance, but for the 
first time quality, will ensure that where fundamental standards of care are being 
breached, firm action is taken until they are resolved. 

 

5.4 Ensuring robust accountability 

� Where the Chief Inspector identifies criminally negligent practice in hospitals, he or she 
will refer the matter to the Health and Safety Executive to consider whether criminal 
prosecution of individuals or boards is necessary.  

� There will be a Law Commission’s review to radically overhaul 150 years of complex 
legislation into a single Act that ensures that professional regulators act much faster on 
individual professional failings. 

� A national barring list will be introduced for unfit NHS Managers, based on the barring 
scheme for Teachers. 

� There will be a barring system introduced for Health Care Assistants enforced by the 
Chief Inspector of Hospitals via the consistent application of the Home Office’s barring 
regime. 

� There will be clear responsibilities for dealing with failure. The Chief Inspector will 
identify failing standards. Monitor and the NHS Trust Development Authority will resolve 
them. NHS England will support the CCG’s to improve commissioning and the DH will 
be the ‘champion’ for the patient. 

 

5.5 Ensuring that staff are trained and motivated 

� Staffing levels will be monitored by the Chief Inspector of Hospitals, and NICE, the CQC 
and NHS England will develop guidance and tools to inform local decisions. 

� The CCG will need assurance of adequate staffing levels following publication of this 
guidance. 

� Implement the Compassion in Practice action plans overseen by the Chief Nurses, NHS 
England and Public 

� See section 4 of this report. 

Page 91



 6

� Starting with pilots, every student who seeks NHS funding for nursing degrees should 
first serve up to a year as a healthcare assistant. 

� A national scheme of revalidation will be introduced by the Nursing and Midwifery 
Council for already qualified nurses to ensure all nurses are up to date and fit to 
practice. 

� There is currently a review by Camilla Cavendish (Journalist) to establish how best to 
ensure healthcare and care assistants can provide safe and compassionate care to 
patients. The Chief Inspectors will ensure that all employers are meeting their 
requirements. 

� The NHS Leadership Academy, will initiate a major programme to ensure new talent 
from the clinical professions and from outside the NHS is drawn into top leadership 
positions including a fast track programme for Chief Executives. 

� The Department of Health, with its new role as champion of the patient, will ensure that 
by 2016 every Department of Health civil servant will have real and extensive frontline 
experience of caring for patients. 

 

6.  COMPASSION IN PRACTICE – IMPLEMENTATION PLAN 

6.1 To address key issues raised from Francis report, a strategy for nursing was launched in 
December 2012 ‘Compassion in Practice’ based on 6 (the 6 Cs) values and behaviours; 
Care, Compassion, Competence, Communication, Courage and Commitment.  A follow on 
implementation plan has been published in March 13 which sets out 6 areas of action, 
delivered together as one programme as follows: 
 

Area 1: Helping people to stay independent, maximising well-being and improving health 
outcomes 

Area 2: Working with people to provide a positive experience of care 

Area 3: Delivering high quality care and measuring impact 

Area 4: Building and strengthening leadership 

Area 5: Ensuring we have the right staff, with the right skills, in the right place 

Area 6: Supporting positive staff experience 
 

NHS England and the National Federation of Nurse Leaders will oversee the delivery of 
these plans with DH leading on Action Area 1.  

 

6.2 Actions for the CCG 

� Sheffield Providers have agreed to integrate actions from Compassion in Practice into 
their local strategies which are monitored at Board Level.  Most Trusts are integrating 
these actions into their existing Quality and Safety Strategies.  The CCG will monitor 
these plans via existing reporting arrangements. 

� The key actions from these plans for commissioners are as follows: 

o Ensure providers report patient experience results at public board meetings, on 
their websites and in annual Quality Accounts. 

o To consider within commissioning intentions the introduction of supervisory status 
of ward/unit managers and team leaders. 

Page 92



 7

o To consider in any services we commission or redesign the rights, risks and 
responsibilities for vulnerable groups 

o Consider incorporating the achievement of standards for the delivery of high 
quality appraisals into contracts during 2013/14 ready for 2014/15 contracts. 

 

7.  Winterbourne View 

7.1 Local Authorities and CCGs are required to implement the findings of the Winterbourne 
View review recommendations.  The Department of Health published its final response to the 
review in December 2012 and described 63 actions with timeframes to be delivered up to 
summer 2016.The key findings of the review were: 

� Inappropriate placements - too many people placed inappropriately in hospitals for 
assessment and treatment and staying for long periods. 

� Inappropriate care models - too few people experiencing personalised care that allows 
them to be in easy reach of family or enabling them to live fulfilled lives in the community. 

� Poor standards of care – too many examples of poor care and too much reliance on 
physical restraint, with failure to assess the quality of care or outcomes being delivered 
for these very high cost placements.  

 

Following the review, a Concordat was launched to deliver national and local actions with a 
commitment to transform health and care services and improve quality of the care offered to 
people with learning disabilities, challenging behaviour, autism and mental health conditions. 
 

 

7.2 Local actions 
� An immediate action was to review the care of any adult in a specialist autism or LD 

hospital setting by June 2013 and end all inappropriate placements by 2014. 
The current position in Sheffield is that there are 79 NHS funded individuals, of which six 
are with NHS Secure Services. The remaining 73 are currently being reviewed and new 
care plans developed where appropriate. In addition 11 jointly funded people are being 
reviewed. The reviews are planned to be finished by May. 

 
� Planning for people to return to Sheffield. 

The Out of City Team, within the Joint Learning Disability Service, has been working to 
return people who are NHS funded, as part of delivering the CCG’s Complex needs 
Business Case.  This is to be expanded and re-prioritised under the 2013/14 
commissioning intentions to deliver this objective sooner than initially planned. 

 
� Implementing a wider transforming care agenda. 

The CCG, in partnership with the Sheffield City Council has already begun to look at 
learning implications of the reviews and the requirements of the concordat as follows: 
Two multi-agency workshops have been held, in November 2012 and February 2013, 
attended by representatives from across health and social care, including third sector and 
patient groups. The programme of work emerging from these workshops is being 
overseen by a steering group jointly chaired by the CCG and LA. 

 
Four main strands of work are emerging: 
� Reviewing out of city placements and planning for change where appropriate. 
� Developing and ensuring local services are in place to meet local need. This will include 

stimulating the market to increase the access to appropriate housing, specialist clinical 
support and specialist providers. 

Page 93



 8

� Improving quality and safety of care – including setting standards and monitoring 
services. This work will need to address quality and safety at the organisational level, the 
service provision level and for individuals. 

� Reviewing the role of health and social care professionals – including responsibilities, 
skills and training and local capacity. 

 
Two cross cutting themes are also evident in the emerging action plan; the need to include 
children and young people in all themes; and the importance of developing management and 
leadership across Sheffield.  Implementation will require significant commitment and 
prioritisation. 
 
7.3 Further Actions for Winterbourne 
Discussions are currently underway between CCG and LA about resources available to 
support the development and implementation of the action plan. Steering Group membership 
has been identified and inaugural meeting planned. 
� The June Deadline for submission of next DH return for reviews of NHS funded patients 

will be met.  
� The complex needs business case will be reviewed in the light of outcome of the reviews 

and the required update to the return to Sheffield plan. 
 

8.  NEXT STEPS TO TAKE FORWARD ACTIONS FROM THE ABOVE REVIEWS. 

The recommendations from these reports will form the basis of the actions for the 
development of the CCG Commissioning for Quality Strategy. Specifically the Quality 
Assurance Committee will consider the recommendations for Commissioners from the 
Francis (2) report and agree those actions for the CCG to take forward. A more detailed 
action plan will then be developed to deliver the actions for 13/14. 
The CCG will need to review and implement any further actions following the publication of 
the final government response expected in September 2013.  

 

9. RECOMMENDATIONS 

� Consider the recommendations of all four reports. 

� Note the current actions for commissioners to take forward the Francis (2) 
recommendations and the current position. 

� Support the development of a Commissioning for Quality Strategy for Sheffield CCG. 

 

10. REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS 
To ensure that the Clinical Commissioning Group is commissioning and implementing 
national recommendations in relation to safe and effective health care. 

 

Paper prepared by Jane Harriman, Deputy Chief Nurse 

On behalf of Kevin Clifford, Chief Nurse 

May 2013 

Page 94



 9

Appendix A                 Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group  

Current Position on Key Recommendations Francis (2) 

No. Recommendation Current Position Proposed Action 

12 All NHS providers should report all 
incidents of concern relevant to patient 
safety and compliance with fundamental 
standards and staff are entitled to receive 
feedback in relation to any action taken or 
reasons for not acting. 

 

All NHS providers in Sheffield have this requirement 
written into contracts, all have policies in place, FT’s are 
monitored nationally and benchmarked and we have 
robust assurance that action is being taken and lessons 
learned via quarterly reports.  Primary care providers do 
not report SI’s to the CCG and smaller NHS providers 
could improve reporting. 

Reporting needs to be 
improved for Primary care 
and smaller providers  

26 In policing compliance with standards, 
direct observation of practice, direct 
interaction with patients, carers and staff, 
and audit of records should take priority 
over monitoring and audit of policies and 
protocols.  

The CCG currently works within the South Yorkshire 
Policy on Gaining Assurance, supports enhanced 
quality visits to providers should this be required when 
all other avenues of engagement has been exhausted, 
or a serious risk to patient safety is identified. 

Review the Policy on Gaining 
Assurance and adopt / adapt 
within the CCG. 

36 A coordinated collection of accurate 
information about the performance of 
organisations must be available to 
providers, commissioners, regulators and 
the public, in as near real time as 
possible. It must not only include statistics 
about outcomes, but must include safety 
related information 

 

We currently access a range of performance data from 
providers, including safety related information; however 
we are constantly working with providers to improve the 
timeliness of information regarding patient safety 
incidents and complaints. 

Continue to work with all 
providers to receive real time 
data 

40 Greater attention is paid to the narrative 
contained in, for instance, complaints 
data, as well as to the numbers. 

 

We receive themes and trends on a quarterly basis from 
providers and the level of detail is variable. The CCG 
complaints report however focuses on the numbers of 
complaints and activity rather than the detail. 

Work with providers to reduce 
the variability of detailed 
narrative, Provide more 
narrative within CCG reports 

52 The CQC should consider conducting We are currently re-establishing a working contact with A meeting has been arranged 

P
age 95



 10 

provider reviews with other agencies the CQC, to improve communication and ascertain the 
feasibility of joint inspections. 

We currently undertake joint quality reviews of care 
homes with the Local Authority. 

for the end of May with the 
CQC to take this forward. 

120 Commissioners should be given access 
to complaints information on a real time 
basis from providers and GP’s have an 
oversight role to play 

See also No. 40.  We receive quarterly reports of 
provider complaints, with a varying level of detail.  GP’s 
currently have minimal involvement in review of 
complaints. 

The CCG needs to agree a 
level of detail from providers 
and establish a clinically 
focused system of review and 
management. 

123 GP’s need to undertake a monitoring role 
on behalf of patients who receive acute 
hospital and other specialist services in 
order to make patient choice a reality. 

 

A number of GP’s are active members on CET and 
Governing body and have a high level oversight of the 
quality of services they commission. Further work will be 
required to ensure that all GP’s are kept up to date with 
quality issues relating to providers and in addition that 
GP share intelligence from providers with members.   

Improve communication 
between GP’s and staff 
involved in quality assurance 
in relation to provider 
performance. 

124 Fundamental standards are being 
developed during 13/14 by the CQC. 
CCGs have a duty to make these a 
requirement and monitor performance of 
providers.  Performance management will 
also be via the regulators. 

 

The CQC currently has essential standards of 
compliance for regulatory purposes and compliance is 
part of every registered provider contract. 

These will be updated this year and the process will 
remain the same whereby there is a regulatory and 
contractual requirement to comply.   

For review and action within 
the contracting process for 
14/15 when standards are 
published. 

125 With NHS England, the CCG will need to 
develop enhanced and developmental 
standards of care for each provider.  
Performance management will be via 
commissioners. 

 

Currently all providers with a national standard contract 
have a CQUIN Scheme in place consisting of enhanced 
standards, and for specific contracts, a best practice 
tariff.  

For review and action within 
the contracting process for 
14/15 working with the Area 
Team 

126 To develop a code of practice for 
managing organisational transitions 

To assist NHS England in developing the code both for 
commissioner and provider transitions. 

For action 13/14 

P
age 96



 11 

 

127/128 CCG’s must have the infrastructure to 
provide proper scrutiny of provider 
services and access to a wide range of 
specialist clinical and procurement 
expertise, collaborating with others if 
groups are too small 

 

 

Sheffield CCG has maintained its size and capacity, 
with effective contracting, quality assurance and a 
clinical advisory resource. South Yorkshire Networks for 
Quality have now been established. With the system 
change, both capacity and the model of working needs 
to be reviewed within the CCG. 

Capacity and the model of 
internal working needs to be 
reviewed. 

129 In reviewing if fundamental standards are 
being maintained, there is a need to 
engage with patients and carers to 
determine if their concerns are being 
addressed 

Patient feedback is received from all key providers (e.g. 
local and national surveys, complaints, Friends and 
Family Test). The CCG has the support of the ‘patient 
opinion’ online service this year, to review feedback and 
service improvements.  More detailed work is required 
to ensure that all concerns are being addressed and 
that feedback information is triangulated with other 
performance information. 

Review the internal 
processes for establishing 
and acting on patient 
feedback both from providers 
and primary care. 

130/131 Ensure that CCG’s define what services 
need to be provided (and not the 
providers) and if necessary make 
available alternative sources of provision 

Current position needs to be reviewed   Are we confident that we are 
driving  all cases what 
services are provided 

132 CCG’s need to monitor the performance 
of every commissioning contract on a 
continual basis: 

• Seeing and understanding all 
quality and safety information 

• Undertaking its own independent 
audits and inspections 

• Monitoring both fundamental and 
enhanced standards, but the 

See also 124, 127 and 128  

Quality assurance processes are in place within the 
CCG however improvements could be made as follows: 

• Reviewing the structure of the contract monitoring 
process, to include a wider range of staff and views, 
with a focus on provider performance 

• Triangulating of performance with patient feedback 

• Instigating a more proactive approach to assurance 
by targeting visits to service 

To review the process of 
contracting and assurance 
during 13/14 

P
age 97



 12 

 

regulator to focus on the 
fundamental standards. 

NB. The concept of the regulator solely monitoring 
fundamental standards needs further clarification. 

133/134 Commissioners should intervene in the 
management of a complaint on behalf of 
the patient where it is felt it is not being 
dealt with satisfactorily.  If necessary 
provide support and advocacy for patients  

This is currently not part of the contracting or assurance 
process, except on an exceptional basis when a 
provider has asked the CCG to contribute to a complaint 
review. Currently there is national review of complaints 
handling and we should wait for the outcome of this. 

 

CCG’s should consider the 
inclusion of the power to 
intervene in contracts and 
consider a process that would 
enable patient support 
services to be commissioned. 

135/136 Commissioners should be accountable to 
the public for the scope and quality of 
services that they commission 

CCG has membership system with lay members on the 
Governing Body which meets monthly in public. 
Additional public meetings have been held and work is 
on-going to improve engagement with the local 
community. 

The CCG will create and 
maintain a recognisable 
identity which becomes a 
familiar reference for the 
community 

137/138 Commissioners should intervene where 
substandard or unsafe services are being 
provided to protect patients from harm, 
working with regulators and if necessary 
to stop the provision of a service and put 
in place contingency plans. 

Sanctions are already considered via the contracting 
process but there could be further consideration as to 
how the CCG conducts contract negotiation and 
escalation of concerns. Working closer with regulators 
to address concerns has commenced via the Quality 
Surveillance Group. 

 

See also 26. Further work 
required in relation to contract 
escalation process, using the  
Policy on Gaining Assurance 
and developing a closer 
working relationship with the 
CQC  decisions being made 
via the business meeting 

P
age 98



S H E F F I E L D    C I T Y     C O U N C I L 
 

Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board 
 

Meeting held 25 April 2013 
 
PRESENT: Councillor Julie Dore (Chair), Leader of the Council 

Councillor Jackie Drayton, Cabinet Member for Children, Young 
People and Families 
Councillor Mary Lea, Cabinet Member for Health, Care and 
Independent Living 
Dr Margaret Ainger, Clinical Commissioning Group 
Ian Atkinson, Clinical Commissioning Group 
Sue James, Healthwatch Sheffield 
Margaret Kitching, Director of Quality and Nursing NHS 
England 
Jayne Ludlam, Interim Executive Director, Children, Young 
People and Families 
Dr Tim Moorhead (Co-Chair), Clinical Commissioning Group,  
John Mothersole, Chief Executive, Sheffield City Council  
Dr Ted Turner, Clinical Commissioning Group  
Jeremy Wight, Director of Public Health  
  

 
   

IN ATTENDANCE:  Joe Fowler Director of Commissioning, Sheffield City 
Council and Tim Furness, Director of Business Planning 
and Partnerships, NHS Sheffield Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

 

 
1.  
 

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 

 Apologies for absence were received from Councillor Harry Harpham, Dr Marion 
Sloan and Richard Webb. 

 
2.  
 

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
 

 There were no declarations of interest by members of the Board.  
  
 
3.  
 

WELCOME FROM CO-CHAIRS 
 

 The Co-Chairs of the Board, Councillor Julie Dore and Dr Tim Moorhead, 
introduced the role and remit of the Health and Wellbeing Board. Board 
Members individually introduced themselves and each commented on their 
aspirations for the Board.  

 
4.  
 

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD TERMS OF REFERENCE 
 

 RESOLVED: That the Board approves the Sheffield Health and 
Wellbeing Board Terms of Reference, as submitted, subject to the 
following amendments at Paragraph 4.1 (Membership): 

  

Agenda Item 7

Page 99



Meeting of the Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board 25.04.2013 

Page 2 of 4 
 

    
  (i) Replacement of the words “Adult Social Care & Public Health” 

with the words “Health, Care and Independent Living”. 
    
  (ii) The deletion of “&” following the word “Children” and insertion 

of the words “and families” after the words “Children & Young 
People” 

    
  (iii) Replacement of the words “Commissioning Board” with the 

word “England”.  
    
  (iv) The replacement of the words “Sheffield Healthwatch” with the 

words “Healthwatch Sheffield”. 
 
5.  
 

SHEFFIELD HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD PLAN 2013-14 
 

5.1 Joe Fowler, Director of Commissioning, Sheffield City Council, 
introduced a joint report of the Director of Commissioning, Sheffield 
City Council and Director of Business Planning and Partnerships, NHS 
Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), concerning the 
Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board Plan 2013-14. 

  
 The report identified 3 areas of priority and ten commitments for the 

Board in 2013/14. The priorities were: 
  
 1. Know the health and wellbeing needs of Sheffield. 
 2. Make a plan to ensure the services in Sheffield meet the health 

and wellbeing needs of Sheffield people. 
 3. Work with the local public and others involved with health and 

wellbeing in the City. 
  
5.2 RESOLVED: that the Board endorses the Sheffield Health and 

Wellbeing Board Plan 2013-14 and commits to working in partnership 
as a Board and with others in 2013-14. 

  
5.3 REASONS FOR THE DECISION: 

The Health and Wellbeing Board in Sheffield is a new partnership 
between key commissioners in the City. This plan sets out how the 
Board, over the coming year, can ensure it has quality evidence of 
needs, workable yet ambitious strategies for action, and meaningful 
dialogue with stakeholders and members of the public on a number of 
issues including inequality. This plan sets out how, in this first year as 
a Board, these elements can all work together.  

 
6.  
 

CITY COUNCIL, CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP AND NHS ENGLAND 
PLANS FOR 2013-14 
 

6.1 Sheffield City Council’s Health and Wellbeing Commissioning Plans 
2013-14 

  

Page 100



Meeting of the Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board 25.04.2013 

Page 3 of 4 
 

 Joe Fowler, Director of Commissioning, Sheffield City Council, 
introduced a report of the Chief Executive, Sheffield City Council, 
summarising the Council’s commissioning intentions and detailing 
investments and savings which the Council planned to make in 
2013/14.  

  
 RESOLVED: that the Board notes and supports the work done by 

Sheffield City Council to contribute to the outcomes and priorities of 
the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 2013-14 and into 2014-15. 

  
6.2 NHS Sheffield CCG Commissioning Intentions 
  
 Tim Furness, Director of Business Planning and Partnerships, NHS 

Sheffield CCG, introduced a report of the Chief Officer, NHS England 
CCG, which set out the CCG’s plans for 2013/14, developed by 
clinical leaders in the CCG and previously discussed by the Shadow 
Health and Wellbeing Board. The document, which described how the 
plans contributed to the outcomes which the Board wished to achieve, 
had been approved by the CCG’s Governing Body on 4 April 2013.  

  
 The Board discussed the extent to which other groups, including the 

Local Involvement Network (LINk) and, in the future, Healthwatch 
Sheffield could influence CCG commissioning intentions. The 
involvement of children and young people and other hard to reach 
groups in the work of Healthwatch was also raised. The significant 
participation of GPs in the development of the CCG’s plans was noted. 

  
 RESOLVED: that the Board notes and supports the Clinical 

Commissioning Group’s plans for 2013/14 and the contribution they 
will make to the outcomes described in the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. 

  
6.3 NHS England Progress Report 
  
 Margaret Kitching, Director of Quality and Nursing, NHS England 

(South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw), submitted a report, which explained 
how NHS England, a body created on 1 April 2013, would work and 
described its functions and objectives. The report also described 
progress in South Yorkshire and Bassetlaw and outlined future 
challenges.  

  
 The Board discussed its role in ensuring that Sheffield received a fair 

deal as regards the allocation to health funding and resources and it 
was explained that there had been close liaison between NHS 
England and the CCG regarding contracts. 

  
 RESOLVED: that the Board notes the progress report concerning 

NHS England, including its functions, objectives and future challenges 
and the contribution to the outcomes of the Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy (JHWS). 

Page 101



Meeting of the Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board 25.04.2013 

Page 4 of 4 
 

 
7.  
 

JOINT STRATEGIC NEEDS ASSESSMENT (JSNA) AND JOINT HEALTH AND 
WELLBEING STRATEGY (JHWS) UPDATE 
 

 Tim Furness introduced a report of the Director of Commissioning, Sheffield City 
Council and the Director of Business Planning and Partnerships, NHS Sheffield 
Clinical Commissioning Group, which provided an update on the work done to 
produce a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and Joint Health and 
Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS).   

  
 The final JSNA document would be submitted to the meeting of the Board in 

June 2013 and the JHWS would be submitted to the Board in September 2013. 
  
 The Board discussed methods of public engagement to inform the two 

documents, including outreach and website based access. Healthwatch 
Sheffield would be holding and contributing to events in support of the 
production of the JHWS and asking for opinions about potential change to inform 
the Strategy.  

  
 Whilst it was not expected that the outcomes of the JHWS would change, it was 

intended that it be more action focussed and that would enable greater 
alignment with commissioning plans. The Strategy would also have to be 
responsive to changing demands. 

  
 RESOLVED: that the Board approves the report submitted and awaits the full 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) document in June 2013 and the final 
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy (JHWS) in September 2013.  

  
 REASONS FOR THE DECISION: 
 The timetable gives enough time for the JSNA document to meaningfully impact 

on the priorities of the JHWS. 
  
 
8.  
 

DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING 
 

 The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board would be held on Thursday 
27th June 2013. 

 
9.  
 

ROUND TABLE DISCUSSION 
 

 At the close of the Board meeting, invited representatives of stakeholder groups 
participated in round table discussions relating to Joint Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy themes. The outcomes would be used to inform the Strategy. 
 

 

Page 102


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interest
	4 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for Sheffield 2013
	Joint Strategic Needs Assessment

	5 Sheffield Health and Wellbeing Board Response to the Fairness Commission
	6 Quality in the New Health System - a review of recommendations from recent national reviews and the implications for Sheffield Clinical Commissioning Group
	7 Minutes of the Previous Meeting

